
City of Bay Minette 
Planning Commission 

301 D’Olive Street ∙ Bay Minette, Alabama 36507 
Phone (251) 580-1650 ∙  COBM_Planning@cityofbayminetteal.gov 

 

 
cityofbayminetteal.gov 

 

AGENDA 
February 8, 2024 
Regular Meeting 

8:00 a.m. 
City Hall Council Chambers 

301 D’Olive Street, Bay Minette 
 

1.) Call to Order 
2.) Invocation and Pledge 
3.) Announcements & Registration to Address the Commission 

Before the meeting begins, Citizens wishing to speak must be signed in, notate they wish to speak  
and follow the Procedures for Addressing the Planning Commission. 

4.) Approval of Minutes for the January 11, 2024, Regular Meeting  
5.) Disclosure of Prior Communications and/or Conflicts of Interest 
6.) Old Business 
7.) New Business 

a.) CU-24001, Bay Minette Liquor, Wine & Cigar 
Disclosure of Prior Communications and/or Conflict of Interest 
Request: Commission Site Use Approval for Liquor, Wine & Beer Sales 
Location: 712 D’Olive St, PIN 84427 

b.) Z-24001, Old Towne Commons 
Disclosure of Prior Communications and/or Conflict of Interest 
Request: Rezoning of properties to a Planned Unit Development (PUD) 
Location: Five (5) parcels totaling 413.4± acres located along State Hwy 59 
            PIN’s: 92518, 222473, 31532, 83618, 62828 

c.) SD-24001, Old Towne Commons 
Disclosure of Prior Communications and/or Conflict of Interest 
Request: Master Plan approval for the development of Old Towne Commons 
Location: Five (5) parcels totaling 413.4± acres located along State Hwy 59 
            PIN’s: 92518, 222473, 31532, 83618, 62828 

d.) Updates & Upcoming Cases 

8.) Reports & Comments 
a.) Mayor/Council/Administration 
b.) Attorney 
c.) Commissioners 
d.) Planning Staff 
e.) Citizen Comments 

9.) Adjournment  
**Next Regular Meeting – March 14, 2024** 



 
 

 
 
 

 

Bay Minette Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting Minutes 

 
Minutes January 11, 2024 Monthly Meeting No. 1 

The City of Bay Minette Planning Commission met in Regular Session on Thursday, January 11, 2024. The meeting was called to 
order at 8:04 a.m. by, Chairman Todd Stewart, in the Council Chambers located in Bay Minette City Hall, at 301 D’Olive Street, Bay 
Minette, Alabama; this being the proper place, date and hour as advertised to hold such meeting.  
 

IN ATTENDANCE At 8:04 a.m. the following members were present, and a quorum established: 
Todd Stewart, Chairman  
Neal Covington, Vice Chairman  
Rob Madison, Building Official/Commission Member 
Ray Clark, Commission Member 
Hiram Templeton, Commission Member 
Earl Emmons, Commission Member  

Commission Members absent:   
Robert A. “Bob” Wills, Mayor  
William Taylor, City Council/Commission Member 

Commission Members late: 
None 

Other persons in regular attendance:   
Clair Dorough, City Planner  
Paula Bonner, Planner Associate  
Jessie Peed, Planning Coordinator 
Tammy Smith, City Administrator 
Lauren Collinsworth, Attorney 
Melissa Hadley, City Engineering Consultant with GMC 

 
GUESTS Wayne Wood, (Representative for SP-23012) 

Jason Hughes, (Representative for SP-23012) 
Chris Smith, (Representative for SP-23012) 
Ray Long, (Representative for SP-23010 & SP-23011) 
Kevin Weaver, (Representative for SP-23010 & SP-23011) 
Cathy Barnette, (Representative for Old Towne Commons) 
Deena Butler  

 
INVOCATION Chairman Stewart presented the invocation, followed by the pledge.  
 
ITEM 3. Announcements/Registration to address the Commission. 
   
ITEM 4. Approval of the Minutes of the December 14, 2023, Regular Meeting.  

Commission Member Ray Clark made a motion to approve the December minutes as written. The motion was seconded 
by Commission Member Earl Emmons and carried unanimously.  

 



 
 

 
 
 

 

ITEM 5. Disclosure of Prior Communications and/or Conflicts of Interest:  
        None 
 
ITEM 6. Old Business  
 

a.) Old Towne Commons PUD and Design Criteria 
Ms. Barnette asked if there were any remaining questions or comments on the narrative/final draft that was previously 
sent out by Mrs. Dorough regarding the Old Towne Commons submittals. After a brief discussion, it was decided to hold 
a Worksession in January for any final reviews and/or requested changes for the upcoming PUD rezoning request and 
Master Plan review scheduled for the February Planning Commission meeting.   

 Mrs. Dorough states the newest version of the Zoning Ordinance has been updated, printed and is located in the binder 
seated in front of everyone at today’s meeting.  She also states everyone has her business card with new phone number, 
along with the large formats, depicted by Exhibit A, B and C, for the Site Plan reviews at the current meeting. 

 Steven Stewart joins meeting at 8:16am. 

 
ITEM 7. New Business 
 

a.) SP-23010, Southeastern Erectors, Inc. for Stella-Jones 
Request: Site Plan Approval for Construction of two (2) 4,800-sq. ft. Roofing System 
 

Chairman Stewart gives an overview of the case. Mrs. Dorough reviews the staff report including location, site 
description, surrounding properties, description of project function, site calculation estimates by Staff, height and metal 
facade compatibility. She states no landscaping was proposed and reviews the engineering questions related to the 
rainwater discharge plan from the proposed covering. Mr. Weaver stated it will follow the existing drainage flow with 
more concentration. Mrs. Dorough continues with the staff report review and includes that while the Zoning Ordinance 
regulations and requirements apply to everyone, the submittal of certain documentation for Site Plan approval such as 
parking, landscaping, and lot coverage requirements, can be waived if those requirements are not essential to a proper 
decision on the project due to the minimal impact to certain sites. That criteria may not warrant Planning Commission 
review, but the documentation must be submitted to Staff for final review of Zoning Ordinance compliance. She states 
the following items were not submitted to Staff for case review prior to the Commission meeting: 

• Parking – no existing calculations, employee count or proposed parking information submitted. 
• Landscaping – Commission members discuss the applicability of landscaping in large industrial sites 

and comes to the agreement that this case does not warrant Commission review for a decision to be 
made. Ms. Hadley states this requirement should be satisfied by indicating on the site plan where 
natural vegetation is located on the site. 

• Lot Coverage – Chairman Stewart and Ms. Hadley discuss the location and functionality of the 
proposal, downspout location and water flow/run-off from the roofing systems. Ms. Hadley states the 
discharge flow from proposed roofing systems should be required as part of the site plan.  

Mrs. Dorough states that staff’s recommendation is for approval of the request with the issuance of the Building 
Permit’s C.O. or Substantial Completion contingent upon the submittal of parking, landscaping and lot coverage 
information to verify compliance. Commission Member Madison remarks that a portion of Building #1 appears to 
cross over the property line and discussion ensues regarding the discrepancies of parcel boundaries shown in the 
submitted survey as compared to Revenue’s site. The Chairman stated that the applicant should work with staff and 
the Revenue Commission to resolve the issue, indicating the lots may need to be combined to satisfy the Zoning 
Ordinance. Discussion ensues to clarify proposed conditions including updated site plan and narrative with drainage 
plan to ensure compliance with Zoning Ordinance; clarification of property lines; parking and landscape criteria; and 
Building Permit issuance.  
 



 
 

 
 
 

 

With no further discussion, Commission Member Clark makes a motion for approval of the request contingent upon 
the following:  

• Narrative describing the construction and drainage plan. 
• Revised Site Plan addressing property lines and drainage. 
• Allow the building permit to be issued and review of conditions considered concurrently with 

construction; C.O./Substantial Completion pending staff approval.   

With the following remarks made by the Chairman for inclusion in the minutes: 

• Planning Commission consideration was given for the requirements and applicability of parking and 
landscaping. 

Commission Member Emmons seconds and the motion is unanimously carried. 
 

Mrs. Dorough states if the deeds can be supplied by the applicant, then the City will work with Revenue to determine the 
correct property lines and advise on proper steps, if the survey is incorrect. 
 

 
b.) SP-23011, Southeastern Erectors, Inc. for Stella-Jones  

Request: Site Plan Approval for Construction of 8,800-sq. ft. Roofing System 
 

Chairman Stewart introduces the request. Mrs. Dorough reviews the Staff Report, including the site and structure location, 
roofing system functionality, landscape, parking, and includes the request is similar to the previous with the exception of 
slightly larger dimensions.  There is a brief discussion on the setback nonconformity and retention pond in relation to the 
water runoff from the proposed roofing system. 

 
With no further discussion, Commission Member Templeton makes a motion for approval of the request contingent 
upon the following:  

• Submittal of a Narrative detailing the construction and drainage information to be reviewed and 
approved by Staff.  

With the following remarks made by the Chairman for inclusion in the minutes: 

• Planning Commission consideration was given for the requirements and applicability of parking and 
landscaping. 

Commission Member Emmons seconds and the motion is unanimously carried. 
 

 
c.) SP-23012, Southside Baptist Church 

Request: Site Plan Approval Request for Southside Baptist Church renovation to connect two (2) existing structures 
and expansion for the new construction of a covered drive. 

 
Chairman Stewart introduces the case and apologizes for any prior confusion regarding Agenda placement.  Commission 
Member Emmons states he had a brief conversation with a church member but it would not sway his decision nor does 
he have any personal gain in this project.  Mrs. Dorough reviews the Staff Report including the site zoning and location 
with pictures, surrounding properties, construction proposal with building elevations, staff provided site calculations, 
and no landscaping or parking criteria was submitted by the applicant. She states there is no expansion in the use but 
the current surfacing doesn’t meet the all-weather surfacing for parking that is required, and there should be 
consideration for future access points and utilities proximity to the Right-of-Way.  Clarifications are stated regarding the 
purpose of the project request and the adjustment from submitted drawings were changed from glass to brick and mortar 
with glass door and windows.  Discussion ensues regarding the possibility of more stormwater being imposed into the 



 
 

 
 
 

 

City’s drainage system, and the alternative access at the rear of the building on a separate parcel would be more sufficient 
instead of the current proposal that is accessed between power poles, ditch and walls creating an insufficient drive width.    
 
With no further discussion, Commission Member Clark makes a motion to approve the request, with the following 
remarks made by the Chairman for inclusion in the minutes: 

1.) Landscaping and parking were reviewed by the Planning Commission and considered to be a non-issue  
2.) The “New Driveway” along Brady Road as shown on submitted Site Plan was not considered or approved as 

part of this application. No timeline restrictions are imposed for future submittal.  
Commission Member Covington seconds and the motion is unanimously carried. 

 
d.) Updates & Upcoming Cases 
Mrs. Dorough presented Updates and Upcoming cases as listed below: 

- Pre-Application meeting that is scheduled: 

• Abundant Life Church- Demolition and new construction of a Fellowship Hall. States the 
current Fellowship Hall is sinking and they will need to do a lot line combination and a 
wetland delineation.  

• Greer’s Canopy Project- Fenced in green space between Greers and Cato’s for small 
equipment rentals and seasonal outdoor garden center. 

• Rausch Coleman Homes- One of the builders for Old Towne Commons wants to do a 
subdivision on the current Cook property located on W 7th St and states the applicant is 
actively looking for additional areas to build more homes within Bay Minette. 

- RFP for the Comprehensive Plan 
- February’s agenda for Old Towne Commons Rezoning and Master Plan review- After a brief discussion, it was 

decided to have additional worksession on January 25th. 
- Mrs. Dorough states there was a miscommunication with Southside Baptist Church and they assumed they 

were on the December agenda without submitting the application.  She explains the three cases that were 
discussed today were all pushed through pre-maturely and states staff will normally not make those type of 
exceptions.  She states the Commission can determine how Site Plans are reviewed for certain projects and 
discussion ensues regarding potential routes of review.  

- Mrs. Dorough also discusses the drainage issue with 7 Brew and adjacent properties.  
 

Vice-Chairman Covington and Commission Member Madison leave the meeting at 9:46am. 
 
 

ITEM  8.  Reports 
a.) Mayor/Council Report – None 
b.) Attorney – None 
c.) Commissioner – None 
d.) Planning Staff – None 
e.) Public Comment – None 

 
Ms. Hadley states she did a quick review of the Old Towne Commons development project and discusses the items 
that she immediately noticed may need additional considerations including lot lines, sidewalks, wetland buffer, traffic 
calming measures, additional pools and/or amenities and maximum length of roads within Subdivisions. She also 
states she previously worked with Dewberry.  

 
ITEM 9. With no further business, Chairman Stewart adjourned the meeting at 10:01 am. 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 
 

 

 
  
DONE THIS THE 11TH DAY OF JANUARY 2024 

 
 
      _________________________________________________________ 

Chairman, Todd Stewart 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Jessica Peed, Planning Coordinator 
 
 
Motion Summary:  

a.) Approval of the December 14 2023, Regular Meeting Minutes: Commission Member Ray Clark made a motion to 
approve the December minutes as written. The motion was seconded by Commission Member Earl Emmons and 
carried unanimously.  
 

b.) SP-23010, Southeastern Erectors, Stella Jones: Commission Member Clark makes a motion for approval of the 
request contingent upon the following:  

• Narrative describing the construction and drainage plan. 
• Revised Site Plan addressing property lines and drainage. 
• Allow the building permit to be issued and review of conditions considered concurrently with 

construction; C.O./Substantial Completion pending staff approval.   

With the following remarks made by the Chairman for inclusion in the minutes: 

• Planning Commission consideration was given for the requirements and applicability of parking and 
landscaping. 

Commission Member Emmons seconds and the motion is unanimously carried. 

c.) SP-23011, Southeastern Erectors, Stella Jones: Commission Member Templeton makes a motion for approval of 
the request contingent upon the following:  

• Submittal of a Narrative detailing the construction and drainage information to be reviewed and 
approved by Staff.  

With the following remarks made by the Chairman for inclusion in the minutes: 

• Planning Commission consideration was given for the requirements and applicability of parking and 
landscaping. 

Commission Member Emmons seconds and the motion is unanimously carried. 
 

d.) SP-23012, Southside Baptist Church: Commission Member Clark makes a motion to approve the request, with the 
following remarks made by the Chairman for inclusion in the minutes: 
 

1.) Landscaping and parking were reviewed by the Planning Commission and considered to be a non-issue  
2.) The “New Driveway” along Brady Road as shown on submitted Site Plan was not considered or approved as 

part of this application. No timeline restrictions are imposed for future submittal.  
 

Commission Member Covington seconds and the motion is unanimously carried. 



 

City of Bay Minette 
Planning & Development Services 

 
PLANNING COMMMISSION SITE PLAN - COMMISSION USE REQUEST 

Planning Commission Meeting Date: February 8, 2024                          Case Number: CU-24001 
 

SUMMARY INFORMATION 
 
Project Name: Denali Brothers Inc. DBA Minette Liquor, Wine, & 
Cigar Store 
Property Location: 712 D’Olive Street 
Property PID/PPIN: 05-23-05-16-2-001-029.001 // 84427 
Property Size: 7.9± acres, Shopping Center 

Requested Action: Planning Commission Approval for a Liquor, 
Wine, & Cigar Store 
Applicant: Denali Brothers, Inc 
Owner: New Bay Minette LLC 

Subject Property Zoning Existing Land Use 
CU-24001 B-2 Vacant Space in Existing Shopping Center / Former Restaurant 

Adjacent Property Zoning Existing Land Use 
North B-2 Subway / Farmers Home Furniture 
South B-2 Shopping Center / Hardees 
East R-2 Bay Minette Fire Department 
West B-2 McDonalds / O’Reilly Auto Parts  

 

SITE AND REQUEST SYNOPSIS 

The subject site is a 3, 000 ± square foot vacant space in an existing shopping center on approximately 7.9 ± total acres.  The site is zoned 
B-2, General Business District located at 712 D’Olive Street.  The space was formerly used as a restaurant.  The applicant would like to use 
the vacant space in the shopping center as a liquor, wine, and cigar store.  This particular use requires Planning Commission Use approval 
in the B-2 district based on the Table of Permitted Uses. If approved, the applicant will be authorized to move forward with obtaining 
appropriate building permits, completing renovations, and obtaining a Certificate of Occupancy.  

 

ZONING DISTRICT AND TABLE OF PERMITTED USES 

 
6.3.2 B-2 General Business District. It is the intent of this district to provide opportunity for activities causing noise and heavy traffic, not 
considered compatible in the more restrictive business district.  These uses also serve a regional as well as a local market and require 
location proximity to major transportation routes.  Recreational vehicle parks, very light production and processing activities are included.  
 
8.10 Table of Permitted Uses. The following table contains the proposed use and the districts it is permitted in.  The letter “P” identifies the 
use must be reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission.  The letter “S” identifies the use as only permitted by special exception.  
The districts with no letter identifies the use as not permitted. 
 
Table of Permitted Uses and Conditions R-A R-1 R-2 R-3 R-4 R-5 B-1 B-2 M-1 M-2 
Automobile and truck repair garage Liquor, wine, and beer sales not to be 
consumed on premises and meeting local and state requirements       P P   



 
DEPARTMENT AND AGENCY COMMENTS 

North Baldwin Utilities - No comments received.   Baldwin County E-911 – Responded - no comments. 
Bay Minette Public Works - No comments received.   Goodwin, Mills & Cawood City Consultants as Transportation &  
Bay Minette Police Department - No comments received.  Site Engineer – No comments received. 
Bay Minette Fire Department - No comments received. 

 

MAPPING 

Zoning Map  Future Land Use Map 

 Locator Map  Site Map 

 
 
 

STAFF ANALYSIS 



 
The following guidelines for Uses Requiring Planning Approval are found in Article 8 – District Requirements in the Zoning Ordinance of the 
City of Bay Minette and are to be considered when an application is being reviewed for site plan approval.  

1.) Is the Location and Site Plan appropriate with regard to 
transportation and access; not causing undue traffic 
congestion or creating a traffic hazard? 
The property has existing access to McMeans Avenue, a 
principal arterial and D’Olive Street, a minor arterial with no 
changes proposed, therefore the proposed use should 
have nominal impact on transportation. 
 
2.) Is the Location and Site Plan appropriate with the water 
supply, waste disposal, and other public facilities? 
As this is a vacant space in an existing shopping center 
with no footprint expansion, the proposed use should have 
a nominal impact on public infrastructure.  There were no 
comments submitted from Bay Minette Public Works or 
North Baldwin Utilities.  Baldwin County E-911 responded 
with no comments.   
 
3.) Is the Location and Site Plan appropriate with fire and 
police protection? 
There were no comments submitted from Bay Minette 
Police Department, Bay Minette Fire Department, Public 
Works, or North Baldwin Utilities regarding the application.  

4.) Being in harmony with the orderly and appropriate development of the district in which the use is located. 
The proposed use is consistent with surrounding uses and the current zoning designation of B-2, General Business District.  This use is 
allowed with Planning Commission approval.  

5.) Other matters which may be appropriate in relation to Section 8.08.02 Uses Requiring Planning Approval 
The applicant will be required to submit and get approval from the Building Official.  Any signage will require a sign permit prior to 
construction/installation. If approved, the applicant will be authorized to move forward with obtaining appropriate permits, completing 
renovations, and obtaining a Certificate of Occupancy.  The applicant will also be required to get approval from the State of Alabama 
Alcoholic Beverage Control Board and the City of Bay Minette City Council.   

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff Recommendation 
This is a vacant space in an existing shopping center with no exterior renovations or increase in footprint proposed, only interior 
renovations for the change in use.  Based on the submitted information and the analysis above, staff recommends that the proposed 
Commission Use Approval Request for liquor, wine, and cigar retail package store (no onsite consumption) be Approved. 

 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION 
 



 
For Commission Use Approval, the Planning Commission makes the final decision and has the option to: 

• Approve the Commission Use 
• Approve the Commission Use with conditions 
• Deny the Commission Use, with stated factors for the denial 
• Table Request, due to lack of information 

 

Upon approval of the use, either as submitted or with changes and/or special conditions required by the Planning Commission, the 
Building Official may issue a building permit for a portion or all of the proposed development; provided that the application is in compliance 
with all applicable City, County, State and Federal requirements. 

8.9.10.4 Site Plan requests that are tabled, will not receive further review by the Planning Commission until all additional information 
requested has been received and reviewed for compliance by the Planning Department. 

8.9.10.5 Site Plan requests that are denied will not receive further review by the Planning Commission until all noted deficiencies have 
been addressed and revised documentation received and reviewed for compliance by the Planning Department. 

8.9.10.6 Any resubmittals, revisions, additional information or permit applications related to the application must be received within 180 
days from the date of Planning Commission action, or a new Site Plan Application will be required. One request for Site Plan Approval 
Extension of up to 180 days will be reviewed administratively. 

















From: Samantha Roberts
To: Jessica Peed
Subject: RE: CU-24001, Bay Minette Liquor, Wine & Cigar
Date: Tuesday, January 23, 2024 1:17:12 PM
Attachments: image002.png

image004.png

 This message has originated from an External Source. Please use proper judgment and caution when
opening attachments, clicking links, or responding to this email.

All good on my end.
 

Samantha Roberts
Addressing Specialist
GIS/Addressing
911 Telecommunicator Circle
Robertsdale, AL  36567
( 251-947-3911 ext 5159
www.baldwin911.org
 

Like and Follow us:    

 
From: Jessica Peed <Jessica.Peed@CITYOFBAYMINETTEAL.GOV> 
Sent: Tuesday, January 23, 2024 1:05 PM
Subject: CU-24001, Bay Minette Liquor, Wine & Cigar

 
Please review the attached application and documents related to a Site Use approval request for a
liquor, wine, beer & cigar retail store. The property is located within the (Tractor Supply) shopping center
of Bay Minette with the address of 712 D’Olive St- The attachment includes a site and location map for
reference. The last page of the attachment also includes a preliminary drawing of the renovations that
will occur if the use is approved by the Commission.
 
Please advise if you have any comments, questions or concerns.
 
Thank you,
 
Jessica Peed
Planning Coordinator
 

City of Bay Minette

mailto:sroberts@baldwin911.org
mailto:Jessica.Peed@CITYOFBAYMINETTEAL.GOV
http://www.baldwin911.org/
https://www.facebook.com/baldwincounty911/




Planning & Development Services Department
301 D’Olive Street
Bay Minette, AL 36507
(251) 580-1650, Ext. 7065
cityofbayminetteal.gov
Planning & Development Services Department Site

 
 

https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__cityofbayminetteal.gov_&d=DwMFAg&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=1Jv4VlzOZSC266qy0bCMIdFr3H_M8YrwzR-8I9kuJ9k&m=cCVrlhgCx-koY528RmNzPQ_KqgQ2xPGF42dQ2VHDS1Wh6T3swRjAhonJtImlRNej&s=2La30sp8mpWuFy0BmFlXkHpiiHMg7sGefMFyS8x6njo&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__cityofbayminetteal.gov_departments_planning-2Dand-2Ddevelopment_&d=DwMFAg&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=1Jv4VlzOZSC266qy0bCMIdFr3H_M8YrwzR-8I9kuJ9k&m=cCVrlhgCx-koY528RmNzPQ_KqgQ2xPGF42dQ2VHDS1Wh6T3swRjAhonJtImlRNej&s=3kY7f-f8SJJ25f7c4jqS4_Q7iSzpT76cPPXaBgqTVxM&e=


From: Paula Bonner
To: Jessica Peed
Cc: Clair Dorough
Subject: Calls for 2/8/24 PC meeting
Date: Wednesday, January 31, 2024 9:18:30 AM
Attachments: image002.png

Jessie,
 
I have had two calls inquiring about the February Planning Commission meeting.

1. A lady saw the sign for Bay Minette Liquor and wanted to know what it was. 
She was just curious and did not comment either positive or negative.

2. A lady called about a notice she received for OTC.  She was with a church. 
She just wanted to know the location of the property.  She did not comment
either positive or negative.

I’ll email you if I get anymore.
 
Thanks,
           
 
Paula S. Bonner
Planner Associate
 

City of Bay Minette
Planning & Development Services Department
301 D’Olive Street
Bay Minette, AL 36507
(251) 580-1650, Ext. 7066
cityofbayminetteal.gov
Planning & Development Services Department Site

 

mailto:Paula.Bonner@CITYOFBAYMINETTEAL.GOV
mailto:Jessica.Peed@CITYOFBAYMINETTEAL.GOV
mailto:Clair.Dorough@CITYOFBAYMINETTEAL.GOV
https://cityofbayminetteal.gov/
https://cityofbayminetteal.gov/departments/planning-and-development/



City of Bay Minette 
Planning & Development Services 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION STAFF ANALYSIS 

Planning Commission Meeting Date: February 8, 2024                                                             Case Number: Z-24001 

APPLICATION SUMMARY 
Project Name: Old Towne Commons PUD Zoning 
Property Location: State Hwy 31, Appx .75 miles south of Holly Hills 
Property PID/PPIN: 05-28-05-21-0-000-009.001 // 92518 
Property PID/PPIN: 05-28-05-21-0-000-002.001 // 222473 
Property PID/PPIN: 05-28-05-21-0-000-002.000 // 31532 
Property PID/PPIN: 05-28-05-21-0-000-009.000 // 83618 
Property PID/PPIN: 05-28-05-21-0-000-001.000 // 62828 
 

Property Size: 413.40± acres 
Proposed Action: Overall site PUD zoning from: 
R-3, Higher Density Single Family Residential District   316.8± acres 
R-4, High Density Multi-Family Residential District       50.2± acres 
B-2, General Business District                             46.4± acres 
Applicant: Baldwin Ventures, LLC 
Property Owner:  Baldwin Ventures, LLC

SITE AND REQUEST SYNOPSIS 
 

 The subject property, which consists of five parcels containing 413.40± acres, is located on the East side of State Highway 59, 
approximately .75 miles south of the northern entrance of Country Club Drive and Holly Hills Municipal Golf Course. The property is 
currently zoned R-3 Single Family, R-4 Multi-Family and B-2, General Commercial and has an estimated .68 miles of frontage on Highway 
59. Three of the parcels are undeveloped with the exception of a power transmission line and internal, dirt roadways; and two parcels 
contain residential dwellings that front Highway 59. The 
property was annexed by Act 2023-145 and pre-zoned 
to its current designations during the same timeframe. 
This property is owned by Baldwin Ventures, LLC, which 
requested the annexation by the City and proposed the 
configuration of the pre-zoning designations as the base 
zoning to allow the progression of future development as 
a Planned Unit Development (PUD). Case Z-24001, the 
PUD request, is the first of two applications being 
submitted for the Planning Commission’s concurrent 
consideration. The second application is for SD-24001, 
Master Plan approval of the development.  

ZONING DISTRICTS AND TABLE OF 
PERMITTED USES 

CURRENT ZONING 
6.02.04 R-3, Higher Density Single Family Residential 
District. This district is intended to provide for a higher 
density of single-family structures on smaller lots than 
those allowed in the R-1 and R-2 districts. Duplexes will 
be allowed as a special exception. 

Subject Property Zoning Existing Land Use 
Z-24001 R-3, R-4, B-2 Undeveloped and Residential 

Adjacent Property Zoning Existing Land Use 
North Unzoned, County Planning District 7 Undeveloped 
South Unzoned, County Planning District 7 Undeveloped 
East Unzoned, County Planning District 7 Undeveloped 
West Unzoned, County Planning District 7 Residential and Undeveloped 



6.02.05 R-4, High Density Multi-Family Residential District. The intent of this district is to provide opportunity for high density single-
family, duplex, and multi-family residential development in specified areas. Within this district it is also considered suitable to include other 
uses of a type deemed to be compatible with a good high-density living environment by providing for needed community services. Public 
or community water and sewer facilities are required. 

6.03.02 B-2, General Business District. This district is intended to provide opportunity for activities causing noise and heavy traffic, not 
considered compatible in the more restrictive business district. These uses also serve a regional as well as a local market and require 
location in proximity to major transportation routes. Recreational vehicle parks, very light production and processing activities are included. 

PROPOSED ZONING 

6.02.07 PUD, Planned Unit Development. This zoning district is to provide an opportunity for the best use of land, protection of valuable 
natural features in the community, provide for larger areas of recreational open space, more economical public services and opportunity for 
mixed use. The purpose of this provision is to encourage the unified development of tracts of land, much more creative and flexible 
concepts in site planning. The criteria for this zoning district can be found in Article 11 of this Ordinance. 

TABLE OF PERMITTED USES 
The current and proposed uses from Section 8.10 Table of Permitted Uses are listed below. Opposite each land use, in the appropriate 
district column or columns, the letter “R” identifies those districts in which a particular land use is permitted by right and the letters “S” 
identifies those districts in which a particular land use is permitted only by special exception. The letter “P”, identifies those uses that must 
be reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission. 

The property is proposed for a Planned Unit Development (PUD) with single-family, multi-family and commercial uses. No specific 
commercial uses have been proposed for the site.  

Table of Permitted Uses and Conditions R-A R-1 R-2 R-3 R-4 R-5 B-1 B-2 M-1 M-2 
Planned Unit Development, fixed dwelling. P P P P P P P P   
Dwelling, one-family. R R R R R R S S S S 
Dwelling, two-family.    S R R P P   
Dwelling, multi-family.     R R P P   
Clinic, dental, medical or psychiatric for humans.       R R   
Convenience store       R R   
Department store.        R   
Discount/Variety store, not to exceed 8,000 sq ft       P R R P 
Drive-in restaurant.       P R   
Drug store.       R R   
Grocery store, neighborhood       R R P P 
Grocery store, supermarket, where retail floor area exceeds 10,000 sq ft.        P P P P 
Hardware store, wholesale, storage and sale. P       R   
Restaurant (not as an entertainment venue).       R R   

RELATED COMPREHENSIVE PLAN STATEMENTS & STRATEGIES 
The City’s Comprehensive Plan is a policy document that functions as the long-range plan for future growth and development. It identifies the goals, 
objectives, and strategies of the community, determined by its residents and property owners. City officials can use the document to make policies that 
effectively provide a coordinated approach for future growth. Though adopted by the City Planning Commission, the Plan is intended to provide guidance 
for future legal and policy decisions as determined by City Council and through analysis of existing and predicted conditions. The Plan also serves as the 
statutory basis for many of the City’s land use and subdivision regulations as well as the application of zoning districts, as zoning and future land use 
must be in accordance with the Comprehensive Plan. The Goals, Objectives, Statements and Strategies below are pulled from the Plan as they are 
deemed relevant to this specific application by Planning Staff.  

Population and Economy 
Goal: Create an atmosphere that will foster educational attainment to attract new industries and encourage the retention and expansion of existing 
industries. 
Objective: Preserve the quality of life established to ensure that Bay Minette remains an attractive residential community and promote sound commercial 
development. 
Economic Analysis: The City of Bay Minette has a strong and diversified economy. The City’s favorable economy derives largely from its strategic location 
and accessibility from the I-65 corridor and its geographical location along the State’s busiest tourist transportation corridor, Highway 59, the main route 
to the Gulf Coast beaches of Alabama. The City is the County Seat and this provides many employment opportunities through local government. The City 



is also host to numerous industrial and manufacturing employers, including Standard Furniture, Quincy Compressors, and Dental EZ, Inc. The following 
sections provide an overview of local economic indicators that guide future economic development. 
Objective: Create an atmosphere in Bay Minette that fosters new industries and encourages the retention and expansion of existing industries. 
#2 City leaders and officials should partner and coordinate with other regional agencies and governments to foster an increase in commercial and 
industrial development in Bay Minette that will create a diversified local economy to bring more jobs to the community. 
#4 The City of Bay Minette should define and clarify desired areas of industrial development and establish an Industrial Park. This will attract and hold 
industrial development potential and associated future land use in the designated area. The Highway 59 corridor north of the City has access to I-65 and 
would be a desirable location for an industrial park. However, Highway 59 south of the City currently has industrial land uses. The City should establish 
areas to focus future industrial development to prevent this land use from being scattered throughout the community. The same should also be done 
for areas of the City with high concentrations of business and commercial land uses to implement appropriate future developments in type and scale. 
With commercial land uses, traditional clustered development with multiple types of land uses should be encouraged over more recent strip/sprawl 
patterns. As funds become available, efforts should also be taken by the City to ensure parcels zoned for business and industrial development possess all 
necessary infrastructure to attract potential developers. 

Housing 
Goal: Provide a wide variety of safe and attractive living environments for all socioeconomic groups. 
Statements: “City requires a diversity of housing types and densities to accommodate all socioeconomic groups of a community. The housing supply of a 
community must support existing and forecasted housing demands to ensure the resident’s quality of life and the vitality and growth of the City. A 
community must foster continued maintenance, rehabilitation, and new construction of their housing stock to maintain the City’s sustainability.” 
“With new growth and development comes the additional responsibility of protecting existing residential areas from encroachment of incompatible land 
uses, increased traffic congestion, and increased stress and damage to utility and storm water drainage systems. This Chapter emphasizes the importance 
of planning for future growth and development without compromising the character that makes Bay Minette unique.” 
“Around 50 percent of Bay Minette’s housing stock was constructed between 1960 and 1989 (20 to 49 years old). Typically, this group of housing begins 
to show signs of deterioration and needs rehabilitation.” 
#1 Promote a choice of rural, suburban, and urban living environments and housing types to accommodate all household incomes. This includes 
anticipating and planning for future land requirements associated with future population projections and projected housing types. 
#2 Preserve and maintain the rural, small town character of Bay Minette by implementing subdivision regulations that will not: result in environmental 
degradation; adversely affect rural/semi-rural areas; impair working agricultural and timberland operations. 
#3 Protect the quality of life in existing and new neighborhoods by implementing subdivision regulations that will: ensure the separation of incompatible 
land uses; preserve and/or create open spaces and landscaped areas; promote the connectivity of roads, schools, parks, and open spaces; require, where 
feasible, the installation of sidewalks throughout the development; and prevent stress on the existing public infrastructure and public services. 
#10 Maintain the public infrastructure at a level needed to continue adequate service to existing and new residential dwellings. This includes correcting 
existing deficiencies in infrastructure and upgrading or constructing new infrastructure to accommodate new developments. Deny new development if the 
infrastructure is not in place to support it without compromising the service to existing housing. Require that all new development be connected to the 
City’s existing public water and sewer lines at the developer’s expense. 

Land Use 
Statement: “To accommodate future population and housing projections, duplex and multi-family development acreage went from 0.43% of 
the total planning area in 2010 to 0.65% by 2030. The mixed-use category was increased from nearly 0% of the total planning area in 2010 to 0.05% in 
2030. This will also increase the future residential land use availability of the City. 
#3 Protect the quality of life of existing and new developments by implementing land use regulations that will: ensure the separation of incompatible land 
uses; preserve and/or create open spaces and landscaped areas with each new development; promote the connectivity of roads, schools, parks, and 
open spaces; require, where feasible, the installation of sidewalks throughout the development; and prevent stress on the existing public infrastructure 
and public services. 
#6 Ensure, through site plan review and/or subdivision plat review, that all types of land use developments have a design and scale compatible to 
adjoining properties and are buffered from different incompatible land uses and adverse impact due to encroachment. 

DEPARTMENT AND AGENCY COMMENTS 

North Baldwin Utilities – Water and gas services available. 
Bay Minette Public Works – No comments 
Bay Minette Police Department – No comments 
Bay Minette Fire Department – Comments incorporated 

throughout Planning Commission proceedings. 

Baldwin County E-911 – Address discrepancy on PIN 31532 to be 
resolved prior to subdivision development.  
ALDOT – No comments received.  
City Engineering Consultant GMC, Melissa A. Hadley, PhD, RLA, 

AICP - Attached, reviewed at January 25, 2024 worksession

 
 
 



MAPPING 
  Existing Zoning Map  Future Land Use Map 

Locator & Site Map 
Locator & Site Map 



STAFF ANALYSIS 

The following guidelines for reviewing zoning amendments are found in Article 15 – Amendment in the Zoning Ordinance of the City of 
Bay Minette. These factors are to be considered when an application is being reviewed for rezoning. 

1.) Compliance with the Comprehensive Plan COMPLIANT 

The subject property is outside of the scope of the Future Land Use Map in the Comprehensive Plan. However, the Comprehensive 
Plan goals, recommendations and strategies listed above include the promotion of sound commercial development and fostering an 
increase in commercial development. The Comprehensive Plan goals, recommendations and strategies also include providing a wide 
variety of safe and attractive living environments for all socioeconomic groups with diversity of housing types and densities, specifically 
stating that: 

“The housing supply of a community must support existing and forecasted housing demands to ensure the resident’s quality of life and the vitality 
and growth of the City. A community must foster continued maintenance, rehabilitation, and new construction of their housing stock to maintain 

the City’s sustainability.” 
The Comprehensive Plan is the master plan required by state law, for the purpose of guiding the future growth of the municipality 
both inside and outside the current municipal limits. The Planning Commission is required to conduct careful and comprehensive 
surveys and studies of the present conditions and future growth of the municipality and with due regard to its relation to neighboring 
territory. The current Comprehensive Plan was researched and written in 2010, prior to the establishment of the County’s Mega-
Site and while considering the expansive extraterritorial jurisdiction that has since significantly diminished. Specifically in light of 
the recent developments at the County’s Mega-Site, the existing plan does not consider actual significant development occurring 
in the North Baldwin area. The intent of the plan is for guiding and accomplishing…  

“a coordinated, adjusted, and harmonious development of the municipality and its environs which will, in accordance with present and future 
needs, best promote health, safety, morals, order, convenience, prosperity, and general welfare as well as efficiency and economy in the process 

of development, including, among other things, adequate provision for traffic, the promotion of safety from fire and other dangers, adequate 
provision for light and air, the promotion of the healthful and convenient distribution of population, the promotion of good civic design and 
arrangement, wise and efficient expenditure of public funds, and the adequate provision of public utilities and other public requirements.” 

 
The proposed PUD is compatible with recommendations and strategies from the Plan that are listed above.  

2.) Compliance with the standards, goals and intent of this ordinance COMPLIANT 

The Zoning Ordinance was intended to promote the health, safety, convenience, order, prosperity, and general welfare of the 
residents; to lessen congestion in the street; to secure safety from fire, panic, and other dangers; to provide adequate light and air; to 
prevent the overcrowding of land; to avoid undue concentration of population; to facilitate the adequate provision of transportation, 
water, sewerage, and parks; to facilitate initiation of the comprehensive plan, and other public requirements. 

Due to the property’s location on Highway 59, especially in light of the ongoing construction at the Novelis Mega-Site, and critical 
need for housing, the potential for residential and commercial development in the area has increased significantly. The property 
owner’s proposal for a Master Planned, mixed-use development would offer a diverse housing stock and provide a significant 
increase in the availability of commercial, single-family and multi-family uses to alleviate a critical need. By developing the 413± 
acres under a unified master plan, it allows for a concentration of resources to serve the proposed development and contain similar 
intensity of uses together to prevent any potential incompatibilities.  

3.) The character of the surrounding property, including any pending development activity COMPLIANT 

The subject property, which consists of five parcels containing 413.40± acres, is located on the East side of State Highway 59, 
approximately .75 miles south of the northern entrance of Country Club Drive and Holly Hills Municipal Golf Course. The property is 
currently zoned R-3, R-4 and B-2, and has an estimated .68 miles of frontage on Highway 59. Three of the parcels are undeveloped 
with the exception of a power transmission line and internal, dirt roadways; and two parcels contain residential dwellings that front 
Highway 59. There are single family residential dwellings scattered along Hwy 59, especially on the western side, with an occasional 
commercial use and a church.  Other than Holly Hills Municipal Golf Course, the surrounding property is County Unzoned in the 
Planning District 7 jurisdiction. As previously stated, the Novelis Mega-Site is a leading factor prompting the increase in potential 
development and need for housing.  

4.) Adequacy of public infrastructure to support the proposed development COMPLIANT 



The Bay Minette Police Department did not have any comments on the application and 
no comments were received from Public Works. Letters of Service Availability were 
submitted from North Baldwin Utilities to provide water and gas services; Baldwin County 
Sewer Service for sewer services and from Baldwin EMC for power. With the location on 
the heavily travelled Highway 59, and surrounding unzoned property, no major impacts 
are anticipated. Since annexation, the Bay Minette Police Department and Bay Minette 
Fire Department services these properties. ALDOT would be the roadway authority for 
Hwy 59 and final design is pending their review. Any development proposed for 
surrounding areas will not fall within the City’s jurisdiction as they are located in County 
Planning districts and along State or County-maintained roadways. If any property in the 
surrounding area is proposed for division, the County’s Subdivision Regulations will 
apply.  

5.) Impacts on natural resources, including existing conditions and ongoing post-
development conditions COMPLIANT 
With the location on the County’s heavily travelled principal arterial, no major impacts 
are anticipated. The property is not located in a Flood Hazard area (Zone X) but GIS 
indicates the presence of hydric soils/potential wetlands. Any future development would 
be required to meet Federal, State and local regulations regarding construction in and 
fill of environmentally sensitive areas. The developer has made concessions for those 
natural areas in the submitted preliminary/conceptual master plan (See Figure 5.1) 
Preliminary plans show approximately 80 acres of wetlands maintained as open space, approximately 45 acres of uplands maintained 
as open space with multiple parks throughout the development. (See Figure 5.2) The proposed plan’s site calculations include 
approximately 47 acres of commercial property, 50 acres of multi-family residential and 316 acres of single-family. The PUD narrative 
includes the following as the second section of the document: 

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
Wetland protection and stormwater management are always significant concerns.  Stormwater will be designed 
and compliant with best engineering practices and all requirements within the Zoning Ordinance and Subdivision 
Regulations.  Sufficient stormwater best management practices will be employed in the development of the PUD 
to ensure runoff leaving the site does not degrade water quality within the receiving water bodies. 
 
The site has been designed to avoid wetlands.  Approximately 19% of the property is wetlands.  Should any wetland 
fill be required, it will be limited to developmental design – no lots are proposed for wetland fill.  A 25’ wetland buffer 
will be installed, where practicable, to comply with the Alabama Construction General Permit. 

6.) Compliance with other laws and regulations of the city 
NOT APPLICABLE 

Not Applicable at this point of the development process.  

7.) Compliance with other applicable laws and regulations 
of other jurisdictions COMPLIANT 

The subject property falls within the municipal limits of 
Bay Minette and under the City’s jurisdiction.  As for 
development of surrounding property, any future 
businesses or entities will be required to work with 
ALDOT or the County Highway Department on access 
concurrence/approval and follow the County’s 
Subdivision Regulations and requirements. The area 
was previously under the Building Permitting and 
Business Licensing jurisdiction of the City but due to 
recent legislation, the area is in the County’s Building 
Permit jurisdiction.  

8.) Impacts on adjacent property including noise, traffic, 
visible intrusions, potential physical impacts, and property 
values COMPLIANT Figure 5.1 – PUD Site Plan 

Figure 5.2 - Site Summary 



No major negative impacts are anticipated. As previously stated, the location on the County’s heavily travelled principal arterial would 
accommodate any impact that may occur. Specific post-development conditions would be reviewed for compliance during preliminary 
plat review of individual phases. Any development, use and improvement to the subject property would likely increase surrounding 
property values and/or generate additional development.  

9.) Impacts on the surrounding neighborhood including noise, traffic, visible intrusions, potential physical impacts, and property values 
COMPLIANT 

No major negative impacts are anticipated. As previously stated, the location on the County’s heavily travelled principal arterial would 
accommodate any impact that may occur. Specific post-development conditions would be reviewed for compliance during preliminary 
plat review of individual phases. Any development, use and improvement to the subject property would likely increase surrounding 
property values and/or generate additional development.  

10.) Other matters which may be appropriate  

This proposal is compliant and consistent with the guidelines and intent of the regulations stated in Article 11. Planned 
Unit Development (PUD) of the Zoning Ordinance, specifically, the provisions below: 

ARTICLE 11. PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD)The intent of this Section is to provide an opportunity for the best use of land, protection 
of valuable natural features in the community, provide for, larger areas of recreational open space, more economical public services and 
opportunity for mixed use. The purpose of this Provision is to encourage the unified development of tracts of land, much more creative and 
flexible concepts in site planning than would otherwise be possible through the strict application of minimum and maximum requirements of 
zoning districts established in this Zoning Ordinance and requirements of the Subdivision Regulations. 
For the purposes of this Ordinance, each Planned Unit Development shall be a minimum of five (5) acres and of sufficient size to 
accommodate the development. The burden is placed on the developer to demonstrate a benefit to the City and the surrounding area. 
Each Planned Unit Development shall have an ordinance that establishes the development regulations for the district. In approving a Planned 
Unit Development, the Ordinance shall reference the site plan, which shall prescribe development standards. The site plan after approval shall 
become part of the amending ordinance. All development shall be in conformance with the approved Site Plan and development regulations. 

 
11.02.04 Will provide, through desirable arrangement and design, benefits which justify the deviations from development standards which 
would otherwise apply. 
 
11.03.01 Provisions of residential districts as applicable shall generally be adhered to in all PUDs. 
 
11.03.02 All land proposed in the project for residential use, including outdoor use of space, off-street parking, interior drives and other 
circulation ways, may be counted in complying with the density requirements. 
 
11.03.03 For any single-family or two (2) family dwelling or any dwelling unit in a townhouse or condominium building, there shall be a 
privately occupied area. This private space shall include the space occupied by such dwelling or dwelling unit, with adjoining open space 
assigned exclusively to such dwelling unit of not less than 600 square feet in addition to private parking area. 

 
This property and development has been under substantial review/consideration by the Planning Commission and City Council 
related to annexation (Act 2023-145), pre-zoning (Z-23003), individual Planning Commission worksessions (Sept 21, 2023; October 
26, 2023; and January 25, 2024) along with numerous discussions as part of the Planning Commission’s New and Old Business 
agenda items.  The preliminary site layout was received in April of 2023 and the number of lots, density and lot widths (40-ft, 50-ft, 
60-ft and 70-ft) have remained constant from the initial proposal. The 5-ft setbacks, particularly on the 40-ft lots, was a stated 
concession of the PUD from the beginning and specifically addressed at the October 26, 2023 worksession along with the 20-ft front 
and rear setback requests. The applicant and owner were present at the November 9, 2023 PC meeting for further discussion on 
setbacks, including extensive coverage of average building envelopes for each type of lot. The development was further discussed at 
the December 14, 2023 meeting, a revised PUD Narrative Draft was provided to commission members in preparation for presentation 
at the February meeting. Mrs. Barnette was present at the January 11, 2024 meeting for any remaining questions and a final 
worksession was planned for January 25, 2024 as a last review prior to official presentation of the PUD and Master Plan applications 
at the February 8, 2024 regular meeting. During this time, the City was transitioning to architecture and engineering firm Goodwyn, 
Mills and Cawood (GMC) to provide engineering services as a consultant. GMC staff member Melissa A. Hadley, PhD, RLA, AICP, 
conducted an initial review of the development after the January 11th meeting and provided recommendations on January 22nd prior to 
the January 25th worksession. These recommendations were constructive and the majority have been incorporated into the final 
proposal. However, the side setback recommendations and subsequent discussion from the January 25th worksession were not able 
to be incorporated without drastically altering the development’s design as it has progressed over the past 10 months. While there is 
a time and place for zero-lot-line setbacks, attempting to require those provisions two weeks prior to a public hearing on such a 
large-scale project after nearly a year of discussion is unreasonable. Particularly when the development is already requesting a waiver 



to the minimum lot width of the R-3 base zoning. Staff has issues with current builders exceeding the setback limitations as defined 
in the ordinance, the potential for that increases on the 40-ft lots with 5-ft side setbacks but it can be carefully policed through the 
unified development process. Variances cannot be granted for these mistakes as they are self-imposed hardships. The risk of 
exceeding setbacks substantially increases with a much smaller margin of error on a zero-lot-line with the stakes much higher when a 
builder or property owner crosses a property line rather than a setback. There is also the issue of the City’s Building Code, which 
would require additional fire protection be incorporated into any structure that is 3 feet or closer to a property line, no matter the 
distance from any adjacent structure. This would significantly increase the cost of construction for the developer/builder that would be 
passed on to the eventual buyers. Staff cannot recommend side setbacks less than those proposed in the narrative: 

 
Minimum Setbacks for Local Streets Front Yard Rear Yard Side Yard Corner Lot 

R-3 Base Zoning 25 30 10* 20 
  40’ lots 25 20** 5** 10** 
  50’ lots 25  20** 5** 10** 
  60’ lots 25 25** 6** 10** 
  70’ lots*** 25 30 10 15**** 

* Ten feet plus two additional feet for each floor above two stories, but not exceeding 20 feet; and when dwelling unit 
faces side yard, the dwelling unit must not be less than 25 feet from the side lot line. 
** Deviation from R-3 Minimum Setbacks 
*** Front and rear setbacks can be flip flopped to allow for variability within lots and developed clusters 
****if lot is side loaded on corner 20’ setback will be required 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the information submitted by the applicant, City Staff and Consultant input and the analysis above, staff recommends that the 
Planning Commission submit a recommendation of approval to the City Council for the PUD in substantially the same form as 

proposed in Exhibit A, dated January 29, 2024. 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION 
For PUD/Rezoning applications, the Planning Commission holds a public hearing and sends an advisory recommendation to the City 
Council, who makes the final decision. The Planning Commission has the option to: 

• Make a recommendation for approval of the request to the City Council as presented 
• Make a recommendation for approval of the request with conditions to the City Council 
• Make a recommendation for denial to the City Council, with stated factors for the denial. 
• Table the request due to a lack of information. 

 

15.2.6  Limitation on resubmittal. No application for a zoning map amendment shall be considered within 365 days from a final decision 
on a previous application for the same or similar parcel of land. An application may be withdrawn without prejudice prior to the public 
hearing being open by the city council. A request to withdraw an application shall be made in writing. 



















Old Towne Commons  

PUD Narrative  

1/29/2024 

Pre-application Meeting: September 21, 2023, October 26, 2023, November 9, 2023, January 24, 2024 

Attendees 
Mayor Bob Wills 
Planning Director: Clair Dorough 
Bay Minette Planning Commission Members and Staff 
Dewberry Engineers: Cathy Barnette 
Developer: Baldwin Ventures, LLC / Gary Capuano 

Objectives 

The proposed Old Towne Commons is a 413.4-acre project legislatively annexed into Bay Minette per Act 
2023-145 and signed by the Governor on May 10, 2023.  In advance of this act, the City of Bay Minette 
pre-zoned the project by Ordinance 1025 with the bulk of the property designated R-3, R-4 in the 
Northwest corner and B-2 along US Highway 31.  (See referenced exhibits). 

The construction of the new Novelis facility located in North Baldwin County provides a need for workforce 
housing.  It is the goal of Old Towne Commons to provide a quality development that suits the character of 
the City of Bay Minette with new homeowners becoming contributing members of the community.  We 
expect this development to appeal to a variety of homebuyers, which helps create a dynamic development.  
The intent of the PUD is to protect the rights and entitlements specified in the PUD from the effects of subsequent 
local legislation. It is also intended to protect the property from the effects of changing policies and procedures 
of local government agencies which may conflict with any term or provision of the PUD or in any way hinder, 
restrict, or prevent the development of the project. The PUD will provide a reasonable certainty as to the lawful 
requirements that must be met in protecting vested property rights, while maintaining the authority and duty of 
government to enforce laws and regulations which promote the public health, safety, and general welfare of the 
citizens of Bay Minette. It is also intended to provide important protection to the natural environment, long term 
financial stability and a viable tax base to the City of Bay Minette. As the agreement is and will be tied to the 
property, such agreements shall be transferable to any subsequent purchaser of the Property.   

The project is to be a phased construction with projected build out to be 7-10 years.  Reflected phasing 
within Master plan is subject to market conditions and deviations will not be considered a substantive 
deviation to the plan. 

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
 
Wetland protection and stormwater management are always significant concerns.  Stormwater will be 
designed and compliant with best engineering practices and all requirements within the Zoning 
Ordinance and Subdivision Regulations.  Sufficient stormwater best management practices will be 
employed in the development of the PUD to ensure runoff leaving the site does not degrade water 
quality within the receiving water bodies. 
 
The site has been designed to avoid wetlands.  Approximately 19% of the property is wetlands.  Should 
any wetland fill be required, it will be limited to developmental design – no lots are proposed for wetland 
fill.  A 25’ wetland buffer will be installed, where practicable, to comply with the Alabama Construction 
General Permit.     



 
 

 
  

 

 
 

CULTURAL AND HISTORICAL RESOURCES 
 
There has been no cultural and historical research performed on this property. Should a U.S. 
Army Corps of Engineers wetlands permit be required for any of the tracts of land, cultural 
resource issues, if any, will be addressed with the State Historic Preservation Office once a 
report is complete. No requirements in connection with historical or cultural resources pertaining 
to the property, other than those required by the State of Alabama in accordance with the 
applicable law, shall be imposed on the property. 
 
UTILITY SERVICE 
 
Any electric, telephone, cable television and natural gas lines will be installed underground in 
accordance with the policies of the respective utility providers and the City of Bay Minette. Street 
lighting will be provided throughout the PUD based on service agreements with the appropriate 
utility provider. Some exterior lighting within the PUD may be financed, designed, constructed, 
and/or maintained by one or more property owner associations or other perpetual maintenance 
entity. It will be the responsibility of the property owner association(s) or other perpetual 
maintenance entity to install, replace or repair any non-standard street light poles and fixtures, 
not the City or utility provider.  Developer will identify location approximately 1 acre in size to 
North Baldwin Utilities for the future location of a water tower.  Given the current sewer 
infrastructure, Baldwin County Sewer Service will be utilized.   
 
ROADWAYS AND TRAFFIC 
 
U.S. Highway 31 is contiguous to the property.  Establishing safe and reasonable ingress and 
egress for the property is a priority for both the Owner and the City of Bay Minette.  Ingress and 
egress for the property will be provided by a combination of existing and proposed access points 
that will require approval from the Alabama Department of Transportation and/or the City of 
Bay Minette.  The final location of these proposed accesses will be determined by ALDOT.    
 
The community will be constructed and paid for by the developer with roads and rights-of-way 
being dedicated to the City of Bay Minette after Final Plat approval. The minimum right-of-way 
and pavement widths will be compliant with the Zoning Ordinance and Subdivision Regulations.  
Roadway design will be compliant to the standards detailed within the City of Bay Minette 
Subdivision Regulations.  Roads indicated on the Master Plan are subject to modification based on 
specific soil conditions, environmental concerns, physical constraints and design parameters.  
Certain areas within the Old Towne Commons PUD in whole or part may be developed as private 
areas with access restricted appropriately at developer discretion. Road width and right-of-way 
width may be reduced when environmental and tree preservation considerations would be 
furthered thereby. To protect and preserve trees, such design is hereby encouraged.  
 
SIDEWALKS 
 
Local roads shall have minimum five foot (5') wide sidewalks on at least one side of the street. 
No sidewalks shall be required in alleys should they be constructed.  Sidewalks will be done 
during the home development with sufficient sidewalk bonding provided by homebuilder.  
 

Commented [CD1]: Sub Reg Section 4.17.03 and 5.02.03 
have a minimum standard of 5 feet for residential and 8 feet 
for non-residential/mixed uses. If 4-ft will be the proposed 
width, we just need to make sure to note that in the waiver 
section. If different than the 4-ft, please specify width for 
any internal multi-fam areas and commercial areas.  

Commented [CSB2R1]: We want to stick with 4 as an 
option 
 

Commented [CD3]: Note 
Sub Reg Section 4.17.06: Sidewalks that are located 
adjacent to common areas or otherwise not adjacent to 
individual lots shall be constructed by the developer prior 
to final plat approval. And Section 5.02.05: Sidewalks shall 
be constructed by the developer prior to final plat 
approval.   
Section 6.01:The subdivider/developer shall be responsible 
for the provision of all required improvements to the 
subdivision/development. This may be accomplished by 
either the full installation of all required improvements by 
the developer at the time the Final Plat is to be submitted to 
the Planning Commission, or by the provision of a financial 
guarantee of performance.  

Commented [CSB4R3]: We plan to keep this if allowed – 
guarantee is fine 

Commented [CSB5R3]:  



 
 

 
  

 

 
 

 

 

COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT 

Commercial development on property zoned for business use along the highway will be 
prohibited from constructing metal buildings on the exterior facade.  Site will comply with the 
buffer restrictions of the City of Bay Minette to create a transition and protection to the dwellings.  
Pedestrian connectivity will be required from the residential uses to the commercial development.  
Business will conform to City of Bay Minette Table of Permitted Uses except for the prohibited 
uses below.   

The following commercial uses are specifically prohibited: 
a. Junkyards or auto salvage yards. 

b. Video poker parlor 

c. Sexually oriented businesses 

d. Other prohibited uses referenced within City of Bay Minette Zoning 

Regulations 

e. Exploration or extraction of oil and gas minerals 
f. Towing / wrecker service 
g. Tattoo parlors and body piercings 
h. RV parks 
i. Manufactured Home Park/Subdivision 
j. Payday Lenders/ Title Loans /Check Cashing Services /Pawnshops 
k. Billboards / Off-Premise Signs 

 

Dwellings/Density 

There are 1,219 dwelling units on the proposed master plan.  Currently 392 multi-family 
residential units are situated on the 50.2 acres of R-4 High Density Multi-Family property.  R-4 
zoning parcel does not anticipate any deviations requested to the R-4 parcel.   Should a new or 
innovative product come to light that requires deviations to the lot square footage, building widths 
and maximum coverage, the City of Bay Minette will authorize modifications to the multi-family 
area as long as the modifications do not cause the multi-family density to exceed the allowable 
14.0 units per acre.  The setbacks will be determined at the time of the subdivision or site plan 
application.  R-4 parcel will require 10’ perimeter buffer from the northern property line.   

The balance of the 827 single family units broken down within 4 proposed lot sizes: 

 278 – 40-foot lots clustered in three areas 

 260 – 50-foot lots clustered in three areas 

 135 – 60-foot lots in one area of the property 

 154 – 70-foot lots in one area of the property  

Commented [CD6]: Will there be any design criteria, 
material or color consistency or signage limitations imposed 
on the commercial development? This has been a primary 
discussion point for the majority of PC members as a benefit 
of the PUD process that can ensure the development's 
'gateway' or first impression from the road frontage 
presents the most attractive appearance possible, especially 
since this will essentially be the City's gateway as well. We 
are working towards some design standards in the Zoning 
Ordinance, but it is only in the discussion stages. As it will 
have to apply to the city as a whole, it may not be specific 
enough to meet the owners' vision of Olde Town Commons.  

Commented [CSB7R6]: We will identify consistency in 
signage.  Look for language to prohibit neon signage etc. 

Commented [CD8]: I removed the "B-2" reference only 
for consideration of future rezonings to other commercial 
designations, particularly if we add another commercial 
zoning district and/or change the B-2 zoning district. 

Commented [CD9]: Will the commercially-zoned 
property be restricted to commercial/business use only or 
will uses/rezonings be allowed for industrial or residential? 
Our Table of Permitted Uses allows multi-fam dwellings in 
B-1 and B-2 with PC approval. Some manufacturing/light 
industrial uses are allowed with PC approval as well.  

Commented [CSB10R9]: We want flexibility to 
encourage multi-use, i.e. live/work if that opportunity arose 
within the commercial district but will prohibit 
manufacturing and light industrial - 

Commented [CD11]: Considerations of commercial uses 
we get the most concerns or complaints about but may not 
be covered in Zoning Ordinance at this time:  
Towing/Wrecker Service - excluded from the 
junkyard/salvage yard definition. Allowed with Special 
Exception approval and screening requirements.  
CBD/medical cannabis uses - Those are not specified in our 
Table of Permitted Uses at this point. CBD is essentially 
retail and tobacco stores are allowed by right in B-2; 
medical cannabis hasn't been authorized by the Council so 
isn't allowed but that may change with future state 
legislation.  
Tattoo Parlors and Body Piercings - Those are included in 
the Body Art Establishments category which is allowed as a 
Special Exception in B-2. But that also covers microblading, 
cosmetic tattooing, ear piercing, etc. so a blanket 
prohibition on Body Art Establishments may hinder some 
uses.  
RV Parks - allowed with PC approval in B-2 districts but 
there are significant requirements in the Sub Regs ...
Commented [CSB12R11]: We will modify to prohibit all 
but the CBD/Medical cannabis uses as that could be done 
properly\ 
 



 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Although a Master Plan is attached to the PUD, the Master Plan can be amended with Planning 
Commission approval without constituting a re-zoning activity.  Density for the property zoned as 
R-3 single-family residential can be modified as long as the density does not deviate greater 
than 10% from the amount authorized in the original approved Master Plan and PUD, which is still 
significantly less than the allowable base zoning of 5.0 units per acre in the R-3 single family 
district. Such density increase shall not constitute a substantial deviation requiring Planning 
Commission approval and the City Planner shall be authorized to approve the increase 
administratively.  

Lot Area/Lot Width/Coverage/Density  

To acknowledge the uniqueness of the PUD, the City will authorize the following deviations from 
the R-3 base zoning.  There is no maximum lot coverage beyond the specified minimum setbacks.   

Minimum Lot Width 
at Building Line 

Minimum Lot Area 
(square feet) 

40 4,800 
50  5,500 
60 7,200 
70 7,200  

 

Although base zoning authorizes 5.0 units per acre for single-family residential and 14.0 units per 
acre for multi-family residential areas, total PUD density cannot exceed 4.0 units per acre.  No 
further residential subdivisions can be made of individual lots.   

 

Home Occupations 

This PUD will comply with the existing ordinance for home occupations.   

 

Non-conforming structures 

The existing home structures that are located within the commercially zoned district (including but 
not limited to PPIN 31532, 222473 and 62828) are grandfathered as legally non-conforming 
structures until such time that the commercial development is viable.   

 

Minimum Setbacks 

The following minimum setbacks will apply to single-family lots within the PUD based on lot width 
at the building line. As noted in the table below, the deviations from the R-3 base zoning 
requirements will be authorized within the PUD.  Where not specified, all other setback 
requirements will comply with the most recent City of Bay Minette Zoning Ordinance.  Front and 
rear setbacks can be flip flopped to allow for variability within lots and developed clusters.     



 
 

 
  

 

 
 

 

 

  

Minimum Setbacks for Local Streets Front 
Yard 

Rear 
Yard 

Side 
Yard 

Corner 
Lot 

R-3 Base Zoning 25 30 10* 20 
  40’ lots 25 20** 5** 10** 
  50’ lots 25  20** 5** 10** 
  60’ lots 25 25** 6** 10** 
  70’ lots*** 25 30 10 15**** 
* Ten feet plus two additional feet for each 
floor above two stories, but not exceeding 
20 feet; and when dwelling unit faces side 
yard, the dwelling unit must not be less than 
25 feet from the side lot line. 
** Deviation from R-3 Minimum Setbacks 
*** Front and rear setbacks can be flip 
flopped to allow for variability within lots 
and developed clusters 
****if lot is side loaded on corner 20’ 
setback will be required 

 
Accessory Uses and Structures 
 
Accessory uses and structures are permitted if those uses and structures are of the nature 
customarily incidental and clearly subordinate to a permitted principal use or structure and 
these uses and structures are located on the same lot (or contiguous lot in the same ownership 
as the principal use). Whether attached or detached to a building or structure containing the 
principal use, the accessory structure shall be considered as a part of the principal building. 
Accessory uses shall not involve operations or structures not in keeping with the character of 
the district where located. 
  
Accessory structures are prohibited in the multi-family residential area.   
 
Accessory uses shall not be located in required front or side yards except as follows: 

• Detached accessory structures such as covered parking, or garages which are separated 
from the main structure may be located in a required side or rear yard but not less than 
five (5) feet from a lot line.  

• Swimming pools and associated screened enclosures may be located in a required rear or 
side yard setback but may not be located less than five (5) feet from the property line or top of 
bank of a pond.  Screened enclosures, pools and decks do not constitute “buildings” in 
calculating maximum lot coverage.   

Commented [CD13]: Does this mean home occupations 
are allowed?  

Commented [CSB14R13]: Looking for suggestions to 
address home occupations. Don’t want to prohibit 
exclusively  

Commented [CSB15R13]: We accept bay minette 
ordinance  

Commented [CD16]: Is the Accessory Structure section 
for commercial and multi-fam residential  areas as well? If 
only for single-family, possibly remove this sentence since 
there's no maximum lot coverage in single family areas? 

Commented [CSB17R16]: Multi-family prohibited 
Commercial may need an allowable structure 

Commented [CSB18R16]:  



 
 

 
  

 

 
 

 
Accessory uses and structures on a residential parcel shall include private garages and 
private boathouses or shelters, toolhouses and garden sheds, garden work centers, children’s 
play areas and play equipment, private barbecue pits. Any structure under a common roof 
and meeting all required yards is a principal structure. Accessory structures may not exceed 
fifteen feet (15’) in height.  Maximum size of an accessory structure cannot exceed 200 
square feet in the 60 and 70’ feet lots, for the 40’ and 50’ lots 150’ feet accessory 
structures can not exceed 150’ square feet. 
  
Off-Street Parking 
 

Unless otherwise specified herein, all off-street parking shall comply with the minimum standards 
of the City of Bay Minette Zoning Ordinance. Single-family dwellings shall provide two (2) off-
street parking spaces for each dwelling unit and multi-family dwellings shall provide one and 
one-half (1 ½) spaces for each unit in accordance with the Zoning Ordinance. On smaller lots with 
one car garages, single-family dwellings shall be authorized to deviate from the Zoning 
Ordinance and provide one (1) off – street parking space for each dwelling unit.  

Irregularly Shaped Lots 

All lots shall have a minimum width at the building line as indicated in the PUD and all lots at the 
end of a cul-de-sac must have sufficient frontage so that the lot width at the front building line 
meets those minimum requirements. On irregularly shaped lots, a minimum street frontage of 30 
feet is required, with the exception that a deviation may be authorized where necessary to 
provide compatibility with the Master Plan.  An “irregularly shaped lot” includes any lot located 
on a cul-de-sac or abutting a curved section of a roadway with a centerline radius of less than 
200 feet. 

 
SIGNAGE 
Signs should be in keeping with the Americana Craftsman concept and fit the scale of the 
proposed development.   
 
SIGNS PROHIBITED  
The following signs are prohibited throughout the PUD 

1.) Billboards and off-premises signs 
2.) Vehicle Advertisements – any sign attached to or painted on a vehicle parked adjacent to 

or on a public right- of-way, thoroughfare, or public parking lot dedicated for public use 
for the principal purpose of advertising. 

3.) Flashing Signs Prohibited: 
(a) General Prohibition: 
Signs which contain intermittent illuminations are prohibited. 
(b) Exceptions: 
This subsection does not prohibit the following:  

(1) Signs required for traffic control. 



 
 

 
  

 

 
 

(2) Signs which exhibit time, date, temperature, and other customary public 
information. 

 4.) Illuminated Tubing: 
(a) General Prohibition: 
Any illuminated tubing or strings of lights that outline property lines, sales area, roof lines, 
doors, windows, wall edges, similar areas or other architectural features of a building. 

 
General Maintenance Requirement: 
All signs shall be maintained in good condition and appearance.  
 
 
Architectural Style 

Architectural style is to reflect an “Americana Craftsman” concept. Building elevations are 
intended to be porch and column rich to create an inviting and welcoming façade.  Buildings will 
be restricted from the use of vinyl siding on the front and homes are encouraged to have a front 
stoop, porch or architectural columns.  PUD will comply with HOA documents with regards to 
design standards.  

Development Commitments and Benefits/Management of Common Areas 

A Property Owners’ Association (POA) will be established to manage the common areas.   No 
architectural review board is proposed for the development, all land use and building construction 
will be reviewed and approved by the City of Bay Minette in accordance with the approved 
PUD/Master Plan documents and current Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Regulations and 
applicable City Codes.  Drainage areas are to be part of the maintained common areas and will 
be the responsibility of the POA.  It will be the responsibility of the POA or other perpetual 
maintenance entity to install, maintain, replace or repair any non-standard street light poles and 
fixtures, decorative street or other sign posts, development signage. 

Community Amenities 

Multi-family (R-4) will establish separate amenities, leasing office and guest parking.    

Amenities are for the use of the development and not for public entry.  The following are 
committed to be under construction by phase 2 of the development.   

Minimum of 3000 square foot amenity center to include clubhouse and pool 

3 covered bus stops to be placed throughout development 

Dog park to be developed within one of the areas listed as park.  

Mailbox kiosks will be covered - locations to be developed during preliminary plat approval.   

Traffic calming, pedestrian access and connectivity will be addressed at preliminary plat 
approval.   

 

Commented [CD19]: Do you have an 
estimated/preferred sequence on when the POA will be 
established? The City Administrator had asked previously in 
regards to maintenance needs between the time of Final 
Plat approval and having enough homeowners to manage 
the POA.  

Commented [CSB20R19]: Further discussion needed on 
our end looking for suggestions to state that Developer will 
be responsible until there is sufficient cash flow or coverage 
from the POA 



 
 

 
  

 

 
 

 

Waivers 

• Sidewalk to allow installation during home construction with financial guarantee 
• Street frontage minimum lot size for irregularly shaped lots 

 

























City of Bay Minette 
Planning & Development Services 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION STAFF ANALYSIS 

Planning Commission Meeting Date: February 8, 2024                                                             Case Number: SD-24001 

APPLICATION SUMMARY 
Project Name: Old Towne Commons Master Plan Approval 
Property Location: State Hwy 31, Appx .75 miles south of Holly Hills 
Property PID/PPIN: 05-28-05-21-0-000-009.001 // 92518 
Property PID/PPIN: 05-28-05-21-0-000-002.001 // 222473 
Property PID/PPIN: 05-28-05-21-0-000-002.000 // 31532 
Property PID/PPIN: 05-28-05-21-0-000-009.000 // 83618 
Property PID/PPIN: 05-28-05-21-0-000-001.000 // 62828 
 

Property Size: 413.40± acres 
Proposed Action: Master Plan Approval for PUD with base zoning: 
R-3, Higher Density Single Family Residential District   316.8± acres 
R-4, High Density Multi-Family Residential District       50.2± acres 
B-2, General Business District                             46.4± acres 
Applicant: Baldwin Ventures, LLC 
Property Owner:  Baldwin Ventures, LLC

SITE AND REQUEST SYNOPSIS 
 

 The subject property, which consists of five parcels containing 413.40± acres, is located on the East side of State Highway 59, 
approximately .75 miles south of the northern entrance of Country Club Drive and Holly Hills Municipal Golf Course. The property is 
currently zoned R-3 Single Family, R-4 Multi-Family and B-2, General Commercial and has an estimated .68 miles of frontage on Highway 
59. Three of the parcels are undeveloped with the exception of a power transmission line and internal, dirt roadways; and two parcels 
contain residential dwellings that front Highway 59. The 
property was annexed by Act 2023-145 and pre-zoned 
to its current designations during the same timeframe. 
This property is owned by Baldwin Ventures, LLC, which 
requested the annexation by the City and proposed the 
configuration of the pre-zoning designations as the base 
zoning to allow the progression of future development as 
a Planned Unit Development (PUD). This application is 
for SD-24001, Master Plan approval of the development, 
the second of two applications being submitted for the 
Planning Commission’s concurrent consideration. Case 
Z-24001, the PUD request, was the first of those two 
applications.  

ZONING DISTRICTS AND TABLE OF 
PERMITTED USES 

CURRENT ZONING 
6.02.04 R-3, Higher Density Single Family Residential 
District. This district is intended to provide for a higher 
density of single-family structures on smaller lots than 

Subject Property Zoning Existing Land Use 
Z-24001 R-3, R-4, B-2 Undeveloped and Residential 

Adjacent Property Zoning Existing Land Use 
North Unzoned, County Planning District 7 Undeveloped 
South Unzoned, County Planning District 7 Undeveloped 
East Unzoned, County Planning District 7 Undeveloped 
West Unzoned, County Planning District 7 Residential and Undeveloped 



those allowed in the R-1 and R-2 districts. Duplexes will be allowed as a special exception. 

6.02.05 R-4, High Density Multi-Family Residential District. The intent of this district is to provide opportunity for high density single-
family, duplex, and multi-family residential development in specified areas. Within this district it is also considered suitable to include other 
uses of a type deemed to be compatible with a good high-density living environment by providing for needed community services. Public 
or community water and sewer facilities are required. 

6.03.02 B-2, General Business District. This district is intended to provide opportunity for activities causing noise and heavy traffic, not 
considered compatible in the more restrictive business district. These uses also serve a regional as well as a local market and require 
location in proximity to major transportation routes. Recreational vehicle parks, very light production and processing activities are included. 

PROPOSED ZONING (Case Z-24001) 

6.02.07 PUD, Planned Unit Development. This zoning district is to provide an opportunity for the best use of land, protection of valuable 
natural features in the community, provide for larger areas of recreational open space, more economical public services and opportunity for 
mixed use. The purpose of this provision is to encourage the unified development of tracts of land, much more creative and flexible 
concepts in site planning. The criteria for this zoning district can be found in Article 11 of this Ordinance. 

DEPARTMENT AND AGENCY COMMENTS 

North Baldwin Utilities – Water and gas services available. 
Bay Minette Public Works – No comments 
Bay Minette Police Department – No comments 
Bay Minette Fire Department – Comments incorporated 

throughout Planning Commission proceedings. 

Baldwin County E-911 – Address discrepancy on PIN 31532 to be 
resolved prior to subdivision development.  
ALDOT – No comments received.  
City Engineering Consultant GMC, Melissa A. Hadley, PhD, RLA, 

AICP - Attached, reviewed at January 25, 2024 worksession

 
 

MAPPING 
  Existing Zoning Map  Future Land Use Map 

 



Locator & Site Map 

 

SUBDIVISION MASTER PLAN PROPOSAL 
 

• 413.4 Total Acres 
• 1,219 Total Dwelling Units 

o 827 Single Family Residential Units 
 40 FT Lots – 278 (Three Areas / Interspersed) 
 50 FT Lots – 260 (Three Areas / Interspersed) 
 60 FT Lots – 135 (One Area in Front/SW Qtr of Property) 
 70 FT Lots – 154 (One Area in Rear/NE Qtr of Property) 

o 392 Multi- Family Residential Units 
 49 Multi-Family Structures 

• 2.9 Units per Acre Density 
• 47 acres of Commercial Property (~11% of Site) 
• 82 Acres of Impervious Surfacing (~20%) Excluding Commercial 
• 38,835 linear feet of streets 

o 2 access points from Hwy 59 
o 5 cul-de-sacs 
o 5 Terminating/Dead End Streets (1 SF, 4 MF) 
o 2 Loop/Circle Transitions 
o 51 Internal Intersections 

• 126.2 Acres of Open Space (31% of Site) 
o 45.9 Acres of Uplands Open Space (11% of Site) 



o 80.3 Acres of Wetlands Open Space (19% of Site) 
• 5 Proposed Phases 
• Community Amenities 

o 3,000 sq ft Clubhouse 
o 1 Pool 
o 3 Covered Bus Stops 
o 18 Areas labeled as “Park” 

 10 Park Areas w/ combined total of 25.37 acres 
 11 water feature/retention areas 
 1 Park to be developed as a Dog Park 

o Covered Mailbox Kiosks 
 

 
 

PUBLIC UTILITIES & SITE CONSIDERATIONS 
 

Public Utilities Services:  Water: North Baldwin Utilities (Service Availability Letter Provided) 
     Gas: North Baldwin Utilities (Service Availability Letter Provided) 

Sewer: Baldwin County Sewer Service (Service Availability Letter Provided) 
Telephone/Internet: AT&T (Service letter to be provided) 

     Electricity: Baldwin EMC (Service Availability Letter Provided) 
Transportation: The proposed development will front on State Hwy 59 a paved and state-maintained 

roadway. ALDOT would be the roadway authority for Hwy 59 and final design would be 
contingent upon their review.  Internal roadways are proposed for construction by the 
developer and dedication to the City after Final Plat approval.  



 
STANDARDS OF APPROVAL / APPLICABLE REGULATIONS 

The following regulations for reviewing Subdivision requests are found in Article 3 – Procedures for Subdivision Plat Approval in the 
Subdivision Regulations of the City of Bay Minette.  

SECTION 3.05 STANDARDS OF APPROVAL 

The Planning Commission shall not approve the subdivision of land if the Commission makes a finding that such land is not suitable for 
platting and development as proposed, due to any of the following: 

3.05.01 The proposed subdivision is not consistent with these Regulations; 

3.05.02 The proposed subdivision is not consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance and/or any other plan or 
program for the physical development of the City including but not limited to a Master Street Plan, a Transportation Plan, a Parks Plan, a 
Bicycle Plan, a Pedestrian Plan, or a Capital Improvements Program, where applicable; 

3.05.03 The proposed subdivision is not consistent with other applicable Federal, State or County laws and regulations; or 

3.05.04 Notwithstanding that the proposed subdivision may satisfy the technical, objective provisions of these Regulations, the 
Commission has discretion to deny a subdivision if there is any articulable, rational basis for a determination that the proposed 
subdivision otherwise endangers the health, safety, or welfare of persons or property. 

SECTION 3.12 MASTER PLAN 

3.12.01 Where any subdivision or development site is to be developed in stages or phases, no preliminary plat for any fraction of the site 
shall be accepted for review unless a master plan is submitted or has been previously approved. 

3.12.02 The master plan shall be a conceptual plan showing the entire development site and all component stages or phases, and shall 
express the overall development concept for the site at build-out. 

3.12.03 The subdivider shall submit a written request for review and approval by the Planning Commission and a copy of said master 
plan. The master plan shall be of sufficient detail to show the proposed street, sidewalk and lot layout, drainage, utilities, detention, 
common, recreational, and landscaped areas. 

3.12.04 If the City Planner finds that any proposed preliminary plat substantially deviates from the approved master plan, a revised master 
plan must be approved by the Planning Commission prior to approval of further plats within the development. Examples of a substantial 
deviation includes an increase in the overall lot density; change in number of entrances, connections, or stub outs; decrease in proposed 
open space or amenity areas. 

 
STAFF COMMENTS 

The proposal meets the critera for Master Plan submittals as detailed above. The overall plan substantially meets the Subdivision 
Regulations and Zoning Ordinance with any waivers submitted as part of the Planned Unit Development document. The Subdivision 
Regulations and the Zoning Ordinance both explicity allow for deviations from the standards based on the intent of the Planned Unit 
Development regulations.  

SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS - SECTION 3.20 SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

3.20.02 Planned Unit Developments. A comprehensive group development including the large-scale construction of housing units 
together with necessary drives and ways of access, may be approved by the Planning Commission although the design of the 
project does not include standard width of streets, lots and other subdivision arrangements if the departure from the required 
standards contained herein can be made without destroying their intent. A master plan for such comprehensive group 



development shall be submitted to the commission for approval, provided that approval of the master plan shall not constitute 
approval of individual plats for phased development of the master plan over a period of years. 

Due to the property’s location on Highway 59, especially in light of the ongoing construction at the Novelis Mega-Site, and critical 
need for housing, the potential for residential and commercial development in the area has increased significantly. The property 
owner’s proposal for a Master Planned, mixed-use development would offer a diverse housing stock and provide a significant increase 
in the availability of commercial, single-family and multi-family uses to alleviate a critical need. By developing the 413± acres under a 
unified master plan, it allows for a concentration of resources to serve the proposed development and contain similar intensity of uses 
together to prevent any potential incompatibilities.  
 
With the location on the County’s heavily travelled principal arterial, no major impacts are anticipated. The property is not located in a 
Flood Hazard area (Zone X) but GIS indicates the presence of hydric soils/potential wetlands. Any future development would be required 
to meet Federal, State and local regulations regarding construction in and fill of environmentally sensitive areas. The developer has made 
concessions for those natural areas in the submitted preliminary/conceptual master plan (See Figure 5.1) Preliminary plans show 
approximately 80 acres of wetlands maintained as open space, approximately 45 acres of uplands maintained as open space with 
multiple parks throughout the development. (See Figure 5.2) The proposed plan’s site calculations include approximately 47 acres of 
commercial property, 50 acres of multi-family residential and 316 acres of single-family. The PUD narrative includes the following as the 
second section of the document: 

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
Wetland protection and stormwater management are always significant concerns.  Stormwater will be designed 
and compliant with best engineering practices and all requirements within the Zoning Ordinance and 
Subdivision Regulations.  Sufficient stormwater best management practices will be employed in the development 
of the PUD to ensure runoff leaving the site does not degrade water quality within the receiving water bodies. 
 
The site has been designed to avoid wetlands.  Approximately 19% of the property is wetlands.  Should any wetland 
fill be required, it will be limited to developmental design – no lots are proposed for wetland fill.  A 25’ wetland 
buffer will be installed, where practicable, to comply with the Alabama Construction General Permit. 

This property and development has been under substantial review/consideration by the Planning Commission and City 
Council related to annexation (Act 2023-145), pre-zoning (Z-23003), individual Planning Commission worksessions (Sept 21, 
2023; October 26, 2023; and January 25, 2024) along with numerous discussions as part of the Planning Commission’s New and Old 
Business agenda items.  The preliminary site layout was received in April of 2023 and the number of lots, density and lot widths (40-ft, 
50-ft, 60-ft and 70-ft) have remained constant from the initial proposal. The 5-ft setbacks, particularly on the 40-ft lots, was a stated 
concession of the PUD from the beginning and specifically addressed at the October 26, 2023 worksession along with the 20-ft front 
and rear setback requests. The applicant and owner were present at the November 9, 2023 PC meeting for further discussion on 
setbacks, including extensive coverage of average building envelopes for each type of lot. The development was further discussed at 
the December 14, 2023 meeting, a revised PUD Narrative Draft was provided to commission members in preparation for presentation 
at the February meeting. Mrs. Barnette was present at the January 11, 2024 meeting for any remaining questions and a final 
worksession was planned for January 25, 2024 as a last review prior to official presentation of the PUD and Master Plan applications at 
the February 8, 2024 regular meeting. During this time, the City was transitioning to architecture and engineering firm Goodwyn, Mills 
and Cawood (GMC) to provide engineering services as a consultant. GMC staff member Melissa A. Hadley, PhD, RLA, AICP, 
conducted an initial review of the development after the January 11th meeting and provided recommendations on January 22nd prior to 
the January 25th worksession. These recommendations were constructive and the majority have been incorporated into the final 
proposal. However, the side setback recommendations and subsequent discussion from the January 25th worksession were not able to 
be incorporated without drastically altering the development’s design as it has progressed over the past 10 months. While there is a 
time and place for zero-lot-line setbacks, attempting to require those provisions two weeks prior to a public hearing on such a large-
scale project after nearly a year of discussion is unreasonable. Particularly when the development is already requesting a waiver to the 
minimum lot width of the R-3 base zoning. Staff has issues with current builders exceeding the setback limitations as defined in the 
ordinance, the potential for that increases on the 40-ft lots with 5-ft side setbacks but it can be carefully policed through the unified 
development process. Variances cannot be granted for these mistakes as they are self-imposed hardships. The risk of exceeding 
setbacks substantially increases with a much smaller margin of error on a zero-lot-line with the stakes much higher when a builder or 
property owner crosses a property line rather than a setback. There is also the issue of the City’s Building Code, which would require 
additional fire protection be incorporated into any structure that is 3 feet or closer to a property line, no matter the distance from any 



adjacent structure. This would significantly increase the cost of construction for the developer/builder that would be passed on to the 
eventual buyers.  
 
The concurrent review of this application with the PUD zoning request, requires that the PUD be approved by the City Council before 
the Master Plan can be considered to have final approval. Therefore, any Master Plan approval must be contingent upon the final 
approval of the PUD zoning request.  

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

 
Based on the information submitted by the applicant, City Staff and Consultant input and the analysis above, staff recommends that the 

Planning Commission APPROVE Case SD-24001, Old Towne Commons Master Plan in substantially the same form as proposed 
contingent upon a successful PUD rezoning (Case Z-24001) by the City Council.  

 
PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION 

For Subdivision Master Plan applications, the Planning Commission makes the final decision and has the option to: 

 
• Approve the Master Plan as presented. 
• Approve the Master Plan with modifications, stating the nature of the required modifications 
• Disapprove the Master Plan, reasons for denial and referencing the specific section(s) with which the plat does not comply  
• Delay action on the Master Plan due to a lack of information 

 













January 31, 2023

Re: PIN 62828, 222473, 31532, 92518, 83618

Ms. Phillips, 

At your request, this letter is to verify that Baldwin County Sewer Service LLC (BCSS) has the 
capacity and capability to serve this property. Sewer service may be connected to this property
at the owner’s expense and request.
 
Baldwin County Sewer Service LLC is willing and able to provide sewer service to the above 
referenced property, subject to applicant paying all fees required for this service. This letter is 
not to be used to obtain a building permit. A $1,500* impact fee per lot will need to be paid to 
Baldwin County Service LLC if a new subdivision plat is signed.  This letter is valid for a period of 
one year from the date of issue. Any customer who has not paid the necessary fees before this 
letter expires will need to contact BCSS and request a re-issuance of their willing and able 
letter.  
 
The wastewater would be treated at our Malbis wastewater treatment plant.  
*Franchise fees apply in franchise areas. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Lisa M. Burke
Baldwin County Sewer Service, LLC
(251) 971-1516 
lisab@baldwincountysewer.com 



ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BAY MINETTE ADOPTION BY ORDINANCE 992 AMENDMENTS THROUGH ORDINANCE 1035 

ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BAY MINETTE ARTICLE 11. PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) PAGE 73 

ARTICLE 11. PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) 

The intent of this Section is to provide an opportunity for the best use of land, protection of valuable natural features in the community, 
provide for, larger areas of recreational open space, more economical public services and opportunity for mixed use. The purpose of 
this Provision is to encourage the unified development of tracts of land, much more creative and flexible concepts in site planning than 
would otherwise be possible through the strict application of minimum and maximum requirements of zoning districts established in 
this Zoning Ordinance and requirements of the Subdivision Regulations.  

For the purposes of this Ordinance, each Planned Unit Development shall be a minimum of five (5) acres and of sufficient size to 
accommodate the development. The burden is placed on the developer to demonstrate a benefit to the City and the surrounding area.  

Each Planned Unit Development shall have an ordinance that establishes the development regulations for the district. In approving a 
Planned Unit Development, the Ordinance shall reference the site plan, which shall prescribe development standards. The site plan 
after approval shall become part of the amending ordinance. All development shall be in conformance with the approved Site Plan and 
development regulations. 

11.01 OWNERSHIP 
Single ownership shall be construed to include the following: 

11.01.01  A person, partnership or corporation. 
11.01.02 An association of property owners, legally bound to one another, to carry out the provisions of this Section for 

development and operation of a PUD, likewise legally bound to execute the agreements as provided 
hereinafter. 

11.01.03  The owner’s association of a condominium project, established under the provisions of Alabama law, which has 
the power to execute the agreements as provided for hereinafter. 

11.02  GENERAL REGULATIONS 
The following general regulations shall apply to all PUDs and require that such developments: 

11.02.01  Shall be in conformity with the City’s Comprehensive Plan or portion thereof as it may apply. 
11.02.02  Shall be consistent in all respects with the purposes and intent of this Ordinance. 
11.02.03  Will advance the general welfare of the City and immediate vicinity. 
11.02.04  Will provide, through desirable arrangement and design, benefits which justify the deviations from 

development standards which would otherwise apply. 

11.03 GENERAL DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 
The following development regulations shall apply to all PUDs: 

11.03.01  Provisions of residential districts as applicable shall generally be adhered to in all PUDs. 
11.03.02  All land proposed in the project for residential use, including outdoor use of space, off-street parking, interior 

drives and other circulation ways, may be counted in complying with the density requirements. 
11.03.03  For any single-family or two (2) family dwelling or any dwelling unit in a townhouse or condominium building, 

there shall be a privately occupied area. This private space shall include the space occupied by such dwelling 
or dwelling unit, with adjoining open space assigned exclusively to such dwelling unit of not less than 600 
square feet in addition to private parking area. 

11.03.04 All open space not assigned to private occupancy as set forth above shall be assigned to the common use of 
all residents or general public of the development, with such use assured in perpetuity as provided for above. 
Assignment and development of such open spaces shall be as follows: 

11.03.04.01 Access driveways. 

11.03.04.02 Landscaped areas, comprising no less than fifteen (15) percent of all common open space 
required by this Section, may include the following: 



ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BAY MINETTE ADOPTION BY ORDINANCE 992 AMENDMENTS THROUGH ORDINANCE 1035 

ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BAY MINETTE ARTICLE 11. PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) PAGE 74 

a. Pedestrian access walkways. 
b. Children’s play areas. 
c. General landscaped areas, flower gardens and areas for passive recreation. 
d. Swimming pools, including accompanying accessory structures, and areas for organized 

sports. 
e. Any other areas suitable for the common enjoyment of the residents. 

11.03.04.03 Every residential structure in a development shall be within 200 feet of a hard-surfaced access 
drive no less than twenty (20) feet wide or a parking lot connected with such a drive. In addition, 
every dwelling or ground floor dwelling unit shall be directly accessible to service and emergency 
vehicles. 

11.03.04.04 Private streets on common easements may be used to provide vehicular access to not more than 
thirty (30) dwelling units on any one such drive. In all other respects, the system of vehicular 
circulation for a development shall be provided by dedicated streets complying in all respects with 
the standards of the Subdivision Regulations; the easement therefore may be counted as a part of 
the net area in complying with density limits, but may not be counted as a part of required 
landscape or recreation space. 

 



Section 
Number

Regulation Language Note

7.02.02

All lots shall front on a public or private street and shall have a minimum frontage width as indicated in Section 8.11. 
On irregularly shaped lots, a minimum street frontage of thirty (30) feet is required and residential lots shall not front 
on a collector street without Planning Commission approval. An “irregularly shaped lot” includes any lot located on a 
cul-de-sac or abutting a curved section of a roadway with a centerline radius of less than 200 feet. 

Waiver

7.04.01.01 On double frontage lots, the required front yard shall be provided on each street. Waiver

7.09.01
Each principal use shall be placed on a lot or parcel which provides frontage on a public or private street having a right-
of-way of not less than sixty (60) feet, except where existing public rights-of-way are less than sixty (60) feet.

 Waiver/Deviation

7.11

Off-Street Parking - In each district, each structure hereafter erected or altered shall be provided with off-street 
parking spaces as specified in the district schedule, Article 9. No off-street parking space required for a building or 
structure shall, during its life, be occupied by or counted as off-street parking space for another building or structure 
but may be included in the required yard space. 

Waiver

8.06

Metal Buildings - On properties along the right-of-way of Alabama Highway 59, Highway 31 or Hand Avenue north of 
Highway 31 to McMeans Avenue, Highway 138, State Highway 287 and D’Olive Street, any metal-clad structures for 
residential multi-family projects involving the construction of three (3) or more dwelling units, all commercial 
structures and all industrial structures, are required to meet the following standards and criteria:

Waiver

8.06.01

The exterior metal walls of the front and any sides of a building facing and visible from said public street, that will be 
constructed with metal cladding as the primary siding material, shall not be constructed to expose bare metal siding 
on any front or side exterior wall facing said right-of-way or roadway. An external façade shall be required to cover 
100% of the front and any exterior walls facing said roadways, which shall apply to all metal structures whether new 
construction, renovation, remodel, expansion or otherwise altered from their current state as of the effective date of 
this Ordinance. 

Waiver

8.06.02

For developments with phased plans, the exterior façade required by this provision shall be completed within the first 
phase of construction. A Certificate of Occupancy shall not be issued, additional building permits received nor 
additional zoning approvals for the site if this requirement has not been completed in accordance with approved plans 
and to the satisfaction of the City Planner or Planning Commission. 

Waiver

8.06.03

Acceptable materials for the external facade of metal buildings include stucco, brick, scored and split face block and 
wood. For the purpose of this Section, paint of any kind including textured or rubberized coatings shall not be 
considered acceptable façade materials. It is recommended that large walls be broken up through the use of 
architectural features or embellishments such as color bands, wainscot, protrusions, recessed windows or entries. 

Waiver

8.06.04
All metal buildings shall have at least two (2) exterior architectural features for articulation, such as front porches, 
gables, awnings, or other exterior siding materials, on the front elevation and any other elevation that is adjacent to or 
visible from a public street or right-of-way. 

Waiver

8.06.05
To improve the aesthetics of the building and lot, landscaping shrubs and/or trees should be planted and maintained 
in front of those portions of the building facing the roadway or right-of-way.

Waiver

8.06.06 Alternative design or alternative materials must be approved through the Site Plan approval process. Waiver

8.07.01.05
Accessory Uses - Any use may be established as an accessory use to any permitted principal use in any district 
provided that such accessory use:

 Waiver/Deviation

8.07.01.05 a

Where an accessory structure is attached to the residential building, a substantial part of one (1) wall of the accessory 
structure shall be an integral part of the residential building or such accessory structure shall be attached to the 
residential building in a substantial manner by a roof and, therefore, such requirements applicable to the residential 
building shall apply. A detached carport constructed on-site shall be subject to applicable building codes.

 Waiver/Deviation

8.07.01.05 b
Where a carport is attached to the residential building, it shall be attached to the residential building in a substantial 
manner by a roof and, therefore, such requirements applicable to the residential building shall apply.

 Waiver/Deviation

8.07.01.05 c
A detached accessory structure shall not be closer than twenty (20) feet to the residential building, nor closer than five 
(5) feet to any lot line or encroach into any existing drainage or utility easements. Swimming pools shall not be closer 
than five (5) feet from the dwelling.

 Waiver/Deviation

Old Towne Commons PUD / Master Plan Waiver List
Zoning Ordinance 1035 - Effective 8/1/2023

Page 1 of 4



Section 
Number

Regulation Language Note

Old Towne Commons PUD / Master Plan Waiver List
Zoning Ordinance 1035 - Effective 8/1/2023

8.07.01.05 d
A detached carport may be located adjacent to a residential building but shall not be closer than five (5) feet to any lot 
line nor encroach into any existing drainage or utility easement. 

 Waiver/Deviation

8.07.01.05 e
A detached accessory building, not more than one (1) story in height, may be constructed on not more than thirty 
percent (30%) of the rear yard.

 Waiver/Deviation

8.07.01.05 f
No detached accessory structure or detached carport may: (1) be located forward of the building frontage of the 
residential building; or (2) be closer than twenty (20) feet to any right-of-way.

 Waiver/Deviation

8.07.01.05 g

Attached or detached accessory structures less than one-third (1/3) the area of the principal residence may be used for 
living quarters provided such structures do not contain kitchen facilities. Such accessory residences may also be 
constructed above a garage or other storage building provided they do not exceed the height limitation for the zoning 
district in which they are located. Notwithstanding any other provision contained herein to the contrary, all structures 
intended for use or used as living quarters are subject to and shall follow all applicable building codes and ordinances.

 Waiver/Deviation

8.07.01.06
For residential multi-family, commercial or industrial uses, accessory structures shall conform to the following 
requirements:

Waiver

8.07.01.06 c
A non-residential detached accessory structure shall not be closer than ten (10) feet to another structure, nor closer 
than five (5) feet to any lot line or encroach into any existing drainage or utility easements. 

Waiver

8.07.01.06 d
No detached accessory structure may: (1) be located forward of the building frontage of the primary structure; or (2) 
be closer than twenty (20) feet to any right-of-way.

 Waiver/Deviation

8.07.01.06 e
Where a business district abuts any part of a residential district, the detached accessory structure shall be located no 
closer than ten (10) feet to the property line; where an industrial district abuts any part of a residential or business 
zone, the detached accessory structure shall be located no closer than twenty (20) feet to the property line.

Waiver

8.07.01.06 f Detached accessory buildings shall not exceed one and one half (1½) stories or twenty (20) feet in height. Waiver

8.07.01.06 g

Detached accessory structures allowed with Land Use Approval by the City Planner or designee: 1. 	Total size does 
not exceed 600 square feet.
2. 	Intended for unconditioned or open-air storage of vehicles, tools, equipment or other similar utility use. No 
accessory structure will be allowed with Land Use approval for any use higher than a “Group S” or “Group U” 
Occupancy Classification as defined by the current International Building Code adopted by the City. 
3. 	Shall meet all other pertinent sections of this Ordinance.                           4. 	Any residential multi-family, commercial 
or industrial accessory structure not conforming to the provisions of this Section shall be required to receive Site Plan 
Approval from the Planning Commission.

Waiver

8.07.01.07
Minimum Lot Area and Lot Width. None specified only that the lot be large enough to accommodate principal building 
plus the accessory building and/or buildings and meet the yard and other requirements specified in this Ordinance.

Waiver

8.07.01.09
Maximum Building Coverage. None specified, only that the principal building together with accessory buildings must 
comply with the requirements applicable to maximum building coverage specified in this Ordinance.

Waiver

Page 2 of 4



Section 
Number

Regulation Language Note

Old Towne Commons PUD / Master Plan Waiver List
Zoning Ordinance 1035 - Effective 8/1/2023

8.07.01.10

Permitting Requirement. For any detached carport that is manufactured or constructed off-site and delivered to the 
residence for assembly and/or installation, the property owner shall obtain a Land Use Application and Building permit 
from the Planning and Development Services Department in accordance with the following requirements:
a.	The property owner shall submit a Land Use Certificate application accompanied by a $75.00 fee and all 
documentation required by the City Planner and Building Official, which shall include, without limitation, Building 
Permit application, plot plan with proposed setbacks, engineered drawings and the manufacturer’s installation 
requirements.
b.	Upon review and approval of the application by the City Planner and Building Official, the property owner shall 
request and schedule a site inspection by the Building Official or his or her designee, to confirm that the proposed 
location for the accessory structure is in accordance with the requirements contained herein. The property owner 
shall not deviate from the approved location without approval of the City Planner or Building Official.
c.	Upon completion of assembly and/or installation or the accessory structure, the property owner or his/her 
contractor shall submit a certification, in form as provided by the Building Official, that the accessory structure was 
installed in accordance with the approved manufacturer’s installation requirements. 

 Waiver/Deviation

8.08.05
Uses Prohibited - Where any use or analogous use has blank spaces under any zones listed in the headings of the 
Tables of Permitted Uses, such use is specifically prohibited in such zones.

Waiver/Deviation

8.10 	

TABLE OF PERMITTED USES
The Table of Permitted Uses identifies those land uses permitted within City limits and specifies the zoning district in 
which such uses are allowed. In conformance with Section 8.08 Permitted Uses and Conditions, opposite each land 
use, in the appropriate district column or columns, the letter “R” identifies those districts in which a particular land 
use is permitted by right and the letter “S” identifies those districts in which a particular land use is permitted only by 
Special Exception from the Board of Adjustment. The letter “P” identifies those uses that must be reviewed and 
approved by the Planning Commission. Uses not specified herein shall be determined by the analogous use or uses 
that are specifically referred to in the Table of Permitted Uses. The NAICS Manual shall be used by the City Planner to 
provide definitions of each use or use groupings listed in the Table. Unless expressly prohibited, and subject to any 
conditions listed in the Table or elsewhere in this Ordinance, all sub-uses listed under a use in the NAICS Manual shall 
have the same zoning district status identified in the Table of Permitted Uses for the most analogous use.

Waiver/Deviation

8.11
	REQUIREMENTS FOR LOT AREA, LOT WIDTH, COVERAGE, DENSITY AND OTHER FACTORS                                                                                                                               
R-3, Higher Density Residential, Single Family	7,200 sq. ft.	50 ft.	30%	5.0 units/ac.

Waiver

8.12
MINIMUM SETBACKS
The following front, rear and side yard setbacks shall apply in districts as listed, except in Planned Unit Development 
and Innovative Design Residential Developments:

Waiver

8.12

R-3, Higher Density Single Family Residential	      Front Arterial 30	    Front Local25	           Rear 30    Side:	a	           Corner 
Arterial 30	                Corner Local 20       a 	Ten (10) feet plus two (2) additional feet for each floor above two (2) stories, 
but not exceeding twenty (20) feet; and when dwelling unit faces side yard, the dwelling unit must not be less than 
twenty-five (25) feet from the side lot line.

Waiver

9.02.01 Off-Street Parking 

9.02.01.01
Definition. An off-street parking space is an all-weather surfaced area not in a street or alley and having an area of not 
less than 171 square feet and minimum dimensions of 9’ x 19’, exclusive of driveways, permanently reserved for the 
temporary storage of one (1) automobile and connected with a street or alley by an all-weather surfaced driveway 
which afford unobstructed ingress and egress to each space.

9.02.03.01 Parking Schedule for Dwellings: a. One (1) and two (2) families	Two (2) spaces for each dwelling unit. Waiver/Deviation

10.11
Buffer Zones - Except as otherwise provided herein, buffer zone requirements shall be based on the proposed 
developing use and the existing abutting use, regardless of current zoning districts. For this Section, “abutting” 
property includes property adjoining, facing or across a roadway.

Waiver/Deviation

10.11.01 All districts shall comply with the following minimum standards: Waiver/Deviation

Waiver/Deviation

Page 3 of 4



Section 
Number

Regulation Language Note

Old Towne Commons PUD / Master Plan Waiver List
Zoning Ordinance 1035 - Effective 8/1/2023

10.11.01 a.
Where a business district or use abuts any part of a residential district or use, a buffer zone 10 (ten) feet wide shall be 
required; 

Waiver/Deviation

10.11.01 d.
Where a public or semi-public use, mixed-use or multi-family residential district or use, abuts any part of a single-
family residential district or use, a buffer zone 10 (ten) feet wide shall be required.

Waiver/Deviation

10.11.01 e.
The buffer shall run the entire length of the abutting lot line(s) and shall be maintained in such a manner as to 
accomplish its purpose continually. Under no circumstances shall this buffer impair vehicular flow and shall be part of 
the yard requirements. 

Waiver/Deviation

Article 16 Signs Waiver/Deviation
Article 17 Sexually Oriented Establishments Waiver/Deviation

Page 4 of 4



3.20.02

Planned Unit Developments. A comprehensive group development including the large-scale construction of housing units 
together with necessary drives and ways of access, may be approved by the Planning Commission although the design of 
the project does not include standard width of streets, lots and other subdivision arrangements if the departure from the 
required standards contained herein can be made without destroying their intent. A master plan for such comprehensive 
group development shall be submitted to the commission for approval, provided that approval of the master plan shall not 
constitute approval of individual plats for phased development of the master plan over a period of years.

Section 
Number

Regulation Language NOTE

3.12.04 

If the City Planner finds that any proposed preliminary plat substantially deviates from the approved master plan, a revised 
master plan must be approved by the Planning Commission prior to approval of further plats within the development. 
Examples of a substantial deviation includes an increase in the overall lot density; change in number of entrances, 
connections, or stub outs; decrease in proposed open space or amenity areas.

Waiver/Deviation

3.14.01

Installation of Improvements - Upon the installation of all required improvements, and prior to the submission of an application 
for Final Plat Approval, the developer or owner shall request final inspection from the City of Bay Minette, and any applicable 
Baldwin County or State officials. Final Inspection Reports shall be submitted at the time of application for Final Plat Approval.           
No lot may be sold, or utilities extended to, or connected with, any subdivision of land, as defined herein until the Final Plat has 
been approved by the Planning Commission.                     Before the Final Plat is approved, the applicant must complete all 
improvements required by these Regulations or provide a financial guarantee of performance of the same as provided for in 
Article 6 Construction and Maintenance of Improvements. All public improvements must be dedicated to the City free and clear 
of all liens and encumbrances.

Waiver/Deviation

3.16.04.01
The subdivider shall be responsible for the full installation of all required minimum improvements in the proposed subdivision 
prior to the submission of a final plat application to the Planning Commission. In lieu of full installation of minimum 
improvements, after no less than ninety percent (90%) of the minimum improvements have been installed, a developer may issue 
a financial guarantee with surety to the City ensuring that the remaining minimum improvements shall be completed. 

Waiver/Deviation

3.16.05.02

The Street Maintenance Bond period shall begin upon the acceptance of the street and drainage improvements by resolution of 
the City Council. No less than thirty (30) calendar days prior to the expiration of said maintenance bond, an inspection shall be 
conducted by an Engineer designated by the City to ensure that the improvements are in satisfactory condition prior to 
acceptance.

Waiver/Deviation

4.02.01

Blocks must generally be wide enough to provide for two tiers of lots of appropriate depths. Exceptions to this prescribed block 
width shall be permitted in blocks adjacent to expressways, arterials, railroads, or waterways where single-tier lots are required 
to separate residential development from vehicular traffic or non-residential uses, or other physical barriers to development as 
approved by the Commission.

Possible 
Waiver/Deviation

4.02.02
The lengths, widths and shapes of blocks must be appropriate for the type of development contemplated. Block lengths in 
residential developments may not exceed 1,500 feet nor be less than 500 feet in length. To the degree practicable, blocks along 
arterial streets must be at least 1,000 ft in length and blocks along collector streets must be at least 600 ft in length.

Possible 
Waiver/Deviation

4.02.03

In long blocks, the Commission may require an easement through the block to accommodate utilities, drainage facilities and 
pedestrian use. Pedestrian passages, within an easement not less than ten feet wide, may be required by the Commission 
through the center of blocks longer than 800 feet where deemed essential to provide circulation or access to schools, 
playgrounds, shopping centers, transportation or other community facilities.

Possible 
Waiver/Deviation

4.03.02
Lot dimensions must conform to the requirements of the Zoning Ordinance and the applicable zoning district. In areas not served 
by sanitary sewer, lot sizes shall meet the requirements of the Health Department. In such cases where requirements conflict, 
the larger requirement shall govern.

Waiver/Deviation

4.03.03 Each lot must front on an existing or proposed street having a right-of-way at least 50 feet wide.
Possible 

Waiver/Deviation

4.03.04

All lots shall have a minimum frontage width as indicated in the Zoning Ordinance for the applicable zoning district. All lots at the 
end of a cul-de-sac must have sufficient frontage so that the lot width at the front building line meets the minimum requirements 
of the Zoning Ordinance. On irregularly shaped lots, a minimum street frontage of 30 feet is required. An “irregularly shaped lot” 
includes any lot located on a cul-de-sac or abutting a curved section of a roadway with a centerline radius of less than 200 feet.

Waiver/Deviation

Old Towne Commons PUD / Master Plan Waiver & Deviation List
Subdivision Regulations - Effective 10/24/2022

Page 1 of 3



3.20.02

Planned Unit Developments. A comprehensive group development including the large-scale construction of housing units 
together with necessary drives and ways of access, may be approved by the Planning Commission although the design of 
the project does not include standard width of streets, lots and other subdivision arrangements if the departure from the 
required standards contained herein can be made without destroying their intent. A master plan for such comprehensive 
group development shall be submitted to the commission for approval, provided that approval of the master plan shall not 
constitute approval of individual plats for phased development of the master plan over a period of years.

Section 
Number

Regulation Language NOTE

Old Towne Commons PUD / Master Plan Waiver & Deviation List
Subdivision Regulations - Effective 10/24/2022

4.03.07
Double frontage lots must be avoided, except where essential to provide separation of residential development from arterial 
streets or to overcome specific disadvantages of topography and orientation. A planted buffer at least ten feet wide and across 
which there may be no right of access must be provided along the line of double frontage lots abutting an arterial street.

Waiver/Deviation

4.05.01

Streets should intersect as nearly at right angles as possible, with minimum design in accordance with Table 4-4. The design of 
all intersections involving Major Streets shall be subject to the approval of the City, State or County Engineer, whichever 
jurisdiction is applicable. For other streets, the proposed intersection of two (2) new streets at an angle of less than seventy-five 
(75) degrees shall not be acceptable. An oblique street should be curved approaching an intersection and should be 
approximately at right angles for at least one hundred (100) feet therefrom.

Possible 
Waiver/Deviation

4.06.03

If the adjacent property is undeveloped, the right-of-way to be continued must extend to the property line and a temporary 
turnaround must be provided. The temporary turnaround must comply with the dimensional requirements for turnarounds in 
4.12 Cul-De-Sacs. The area necessary for the temporary turnaround outside the normal right-of-way must be contained within an 
easement that will automatically dissolve when the street is extended and approved by the City. The Commission may limit the 
length of such temporary dead-end streets in accordance with 4.12 Cul-De-Sacs. The paving or improvement of right-of-way to 
the boundary with the adjoining property may not be required. The intent is that paving and utilities be extended far enough to 
serve the subdivision lots; and the right-of-way and/or easements extended so that streets and utilities can be extended into 
adjoining property as needed.

Waiver/Deviation

4.12.01
For the purposes of these standards, the length of a dead-end street is measured from the centerline of the street from which it 
takes access to the center of the turnaround at the end of the dead-end street, or in the absence of a turnaround to the end of the 
pavement.

Possible 
Waiver/Deviation

4.12.02

Vehicular turnarounds are required as follows: 1) Dead end streets of 151-600 ft in length must have a cul-de-sac turnaround 
unless a hammerhead or similar turnaround is approved by the City Planner and Fire Inspector for dead end streets with low 
traffic volumes.                   2.) Dead end streets, regardless of whether a turnaround is provided, shall not exceed 600 ft in length.    
3)  Cul-de-sacs must terminate with a roadway diameter of not less than 120 ft. To reduce increases in stormwater runoff, a 
planted circle may be installed with a mountable curb and low maintenance plants at the center of the cul-de-sac. The circle 
must be dimensioned to accommodate fire apparatus as approved by the City Planner and Fire Inspector.

Possible 
Waiver/Deviation

4.17.08.06 Pedestrian passages may be required to provide access across the depth of a block that exceeds 600 ft in length.
Possible 

Waiver/Deviation

4.17.09.01

Cul-de-sacs within medium or high-density residential subdivisions may be required to provide a permanent pedestrian passage 
to nearby streets or community destinations. In determining whether a passage should be required, the Commission considers 
the degree to which the passage would increase the safety and convenience of pedestrians in reaching such destinations 
compared to other pedestrian routes within the subdivision.

Possible 
Waiver/Deviation

4.17.09.03

Where required, pedestrian passages must be provided as follows: 1.) The easement or right-of-way containing the passage must 
be at least ten feet (10’) wide and the improved walkway must be at least five feet (5’) wide in residential areas and six feet (6’) 
wide in nonresidential areas. The design and surface material of the passage must be approved by the Planning Commission.     
2.)  If located in a right-of-way, the passage is subject to acceptance by the City.   3.)    If located within a private easement, the 
Subdivider or property owners’ association is responsible for maintenance.

Possible 
Waiver/Deviation

5.02.05 Sidewalks shall be constructed by the developer prior to final plat approval. Waiver/Deviation

Section 6.01

Installation Of Required Improvements.   The subdivider/developer shall be responsible for the provision of all required 
improvements to the subdivision/development. This may be accomplished by either the full installation of all required 
improvements by the developer at the time the Final Plat is to be submitted to the Planning Commission, or by the provision of a 
financial guarantee of performance.

Waiver/Deviation

Page 2 of 3



3.20.02

Planned Unit Developments. A comprehensive group development including the large-scale construction of housing units 
together with necessary drives and ways of access, may be approved by the Planning Commission although the design of 
the project does not include standard width of streets, lots and other subdivision arrangements if the departure from the 
required standards contained herein can be made without destroying their intent. A master plan for such comprehensive 
group development shall be submitted to the commission for approval, provided that approval of the master plan shall not 
constitute approval of individual plats for phased development of the master plan over a period of years.

Section 
Number

Regulation Language NOTE

Old Towne Commons PUD / Master Plan Waiver & Deviation List
Subdivision Regulations - Effective 10/24/2022

6.01.01

Provisional final approval can be given by the Planning Commission under extenuating circumstances, provided that a financial 
guarantee in the form of a surety bond shall be given in the amount equal to one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the cost as 
estimated by an independent source of installing all improvements, including grading, paving of the streets, and installation of all 
required utilities, and fees encountered during execution of improvements. The cost estimate for all remaining civil 
improvements shall be certified and submitted by the design engineer with the application for final plat approval; a cost estimate 
of any remaining landscaping improvements must be certified and submitted by the professional landscape architect with the 
application for final plat approval and the financial guarantee.

Waiver/Deviation

Page 3 of 3


	February 8 2024 Regular Meeting Agenda
	January Minutes- PSB CD 2-7-24
	Minutes January 11, 2024 Monthly Meeting No. 1
	___________________________________

	CU-24001
	CU-24001 Staff Report Bay Minette Liquor Site Use
	CU-24001 Application Docs for Packet
	E-911
	Paula- Public Call

	CU24001 application
	Z-24001 PUD Staff Report CD
	Corner Lot
	Side Yard
	Rear Yard
	Front Yard
	Minimum Setbacks for Local Streets
	20
	10*
	30
	25
	R-3 Base Zoning
	10**
	5**
	20**
	25
	  40’ lots
	10**
	5**
	20**
	25 
	  50’ lots
	10**
	6**
	25**
	25
	  60’ lots
	15****
	10
	30
	25
	  70’ lots***
	* Ten feet plus two additional feet for each floor above two stories, but not exceeding 20 feet; and when dwelling unit faces side yard, the dwelling unit must not be less than 25 feet from the side lot line.
	** Deviation from R-3 Minimum Setbacks
	*** Front and rear setbacks can be flip flopped to allow for variability within lots and developed clusters
	****if lot is side loaded on corner 20’ setback will be required

	Z-24001, PUD Rezoning App
	PUD Narrative working 1.29.24
	ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
	CULTURAL AND HISTORICAL RESOURCES
	UTILITY SERVICE
	Any electric, telephone, cable television and natural gas lines will be installed underground in accordance with the policies of the respective utility providers and the City of Bay Minette. Street lighting will be provided throughout the PUD based on...
	ROADWAYS AND TRAFFIC
	U.S. Highway 31 is contiguous to the property.  Establishing safe and reasonable ingress and egress for the property is a priority for both the Owner and the City of Bay Minette.  Ingress and egress for the property will be provided by a combination o...
	The community will be constructed and paid for by the developer with roads and rights-of-way being dedicated to the City of Bay Minette after Final Plat approval. The minimum right-of-way and pavement widths will be compliant with the Zoning Ordinance...
	SIDEWALKS
	Accessory Uses and Structures
	Off-Street Parking

	  40’ lots
	Corner Lot
	Side Yard
	Rear Yard
	Front Yard
	Minimum Setbacks for Local Streets
	  50’ lots
	20
	10*
	30
	25
	R-3 Base Zoning
	  60’ lots
	10**
	5**
	20**
	25
	  70’ lots***
	10**
	5**
	20**
	25 
	10**
	6**
	25**
	25
	15****
	10
	30
	25
	* Ten feet plus two additional feet for each floor above two stories, but not exceeding 20 feet; and when dwelling unit faces side yard, the dwelling unit must not be less than 25 feet from the side lot line.
	** Deviation from R-3 Minimum Setbacks
	*** Front and rear setbacks can be flip flopped to allow for variability within lots and developed clusters
	****if lot is side loaded on corner 20’ setback will be required

	GMC Comment screenshots combined
	GMC Comments Pg 1
	GMC Comments Pg 2
	GMC Comments Pg 3, no comment Pg 4
	GMC Comments Pg 5
	GMC Comments Pg 6
	GMC Comments Pg 7

	AA 50157795MASTER PLAN_2022 revised
	AA 50157795MASTER PLAN_2022_COLOR CODED
	AA OLDE TOWNE COMMONS CURRENT ZONING
	AA OLDE TOWNE COMMONS OVERALL PUD RE-ZONING
	AA Phased CAD Image
	SD-24001 PUD Staff Report CD
	SD-24001, Master Plan Subdivision App
	BCSS LOA
	Article 11  COBM Zoning Ordinance Through 1035 v1.10.24
	Zoning Ord Waiver List 2-7-24
	Zoning Ordinance Waivers 2-8-24

	Sub Reg Waiver List 2-7-24
	Subdivision Reg Waivers 2-8-24

	Exhibit A - PUD Narrative for Feb 8, 2024 Mtg
	ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
	CULTURAL AND HISTORICAL RESOURCES
	UTILITY SERVICE
	Any electric, telephone, cable television and natural gas lines will be installed underground in accordance with the policies of the respective utility providers and the City of Bay Minette. Street lighting will be provided throughout the PUD based on...
	ROADWAYS AND TRAFFIC
	U.S. Highway 31 is contiguous to the property.  Establishing safe and reasonable ingress and egress for the property is a priority for both the Owner and the City of Bay Minette.  Ingress and egress for the property will be provided by a combination o...
	The community will be constructed and paid for by the developer with roads and rights-of-way being dedicated to the City of Bay Minette after Final Plat approval. The minimum right-of-way and pavement widths will be compliant with the Zoning Ordinance...
	SIDEWALKS
	Accessory Uses and Structures
	Off-Street Parking

	Corner Lot
	Side Yard
	Rear Yard
	Front Yard
	Minimum Setbacks for Local Streets
	20
	10*
	30
	25
	R-3 Base Zoning
	10**
	5**
	20**
	25
	  40’ lots
	10**
	5**
	20**
	25 
	  50’ lots
	10**
	6**
	25**
	25
	  60’ lots
	15****
	10
	30
	25
	  70’ lots***
	* Ten feet plus two additional feet for each floor above two stories, but not exceeding 20 feet; and when dwelling unit faces side yard, the dwelling unit must not be less than 25 feet from the side lot line.
	** Deviation from R-3 Minimum Setbacks
	*** Front and rear setbacks can be flip flopped to allow for variability within lots and developed clusters
	****if lot is side loaded on corner 20’ setback will be required




